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A look at St. Matthews through various forms. 

 
 

This is one of many sections that contain information, photos, newspaper articles, internet items, etc. 
of the St. Matthews area.  Many of the items came from Al Ring’s personal collections but many peo-
ple have helped and I have tried to give credit where I can.  
 

The purpose of this “collection” was to create the history of St. Matthews, Kentucky.  Being retired I 
now have time to do many of the things I have always wanted, this project is just one of them.  
  
All graphics have been improved to make the resolution as good as possible, but the reader should 
remember that many came from copies of old newspaper articles and photos.   Credit to the source of 
the photos, etc. is provided whenever it was available.  We realize that many items are not identified 
and regret that we weren’t able to provide this information.  As far as the newspaper articles that are 
not identified, 99% of them would have to be from one of three possible sources.  The Courier-
Journal, The Louisville Times or one of the Voice publications.  Books that we have used for some 
information include, Randy, Cactus, Uncle, Ed and the Golden age of Louisville Television, Wag-
gener High School Alumni Directory 1996, Waggener Traditional High School Alumni Directory 
2007, Memories of Fontaine Ferry Park, St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass by Samuel W. 
Thomas, St. Matthews, 25 Years a City Two Centuries a Community, St. Matthews 1960-1995, Wag-
gener Lair’s 1958 to 1962, The Holy Warrior, Muhammad Ali, Louisville’s Own (An Illustrated En-
cyclopedia Of Louisville Area Recorded Pop Music From 1953 to 1983).  
 
 
Please use this information as a reference tool only.  If the reader uses any of the information for any 
purpose other than a reference tool, they should get permission from the source.   
  



 

 
 

Explanation of the following pages, (Please Read) 
 
This section is a limited history of the St. Matthews community.  
The easiest way to cover this and not go into the real detail of the 
very early history was to include 4 booklets and some articles that 
covered much of the history and wonderful photos. 
 
St. Matthews...25 Years A City...Two Centuries A Community—The Louis-
ville Herald Post of October 7, 1936 describes “Salubrious” St. Matthews:                 

St. Matthews makes its bow 

History of St. Matthews compiled by R. O. (Bob) Dorsey, 1968 
St. Matthews...25 Years a City Two Centuries a Community—1975 

A place in time—The story of Louisville’s neighborhoods, 1989 
St. Matthews — 1950—1995 

City Of St. Matthews 50 Years—1950 — 2000 
The Voice-Tribune, August 16, 2000—50th Birthday 

 
All I have done here is to copy these wonderful booklets and histo-
ries to provide you with an overall history of the St. Matthews area. 
 
For those of you who might be really into the St. Matthews history 
I have put the names of two wonderful books written on the history 
of the area.  They are listed on the next two pages and I strongly 
suggest if you have a real interest in this history, purchase the fol-
lowing.  Let me say up front, I wrote one of them, but that is neither 
here nor there.  It is the only complete history of the St. Matthews 
Fire Department ever written. 
 

 



 
St. Matthews The Crossroads of Beargrass 

 

Samuel W. Thomas 
 

1999 
 

I am sure this book is available in bookstores in the St. Matthews area and may be 
available on line at various places.  The book is a beautiful 223 page history full of 
photos and accurate information on St. Matthews.  The ISBN number is 1-884532-34-
9 and it was published by Butler Book Publishing in Louisville, KY.  

Recommended Book: 



 
St. Matthews Firefighters 

84 Years of Firefighting in St. Matthews, Kentucky 
 

Al Ring 
 

2004 
 

I am sure this book is available in bookstores in the St. Matthews area and is available 
at http://ringbrothershistory.com/firebook.htm at a discounted price with all proceeds 
going to the St. Matthews Fire Department Alumni Association.  The book is a beauti-
ful 208 page history full of photos and accurate information on the St. Matthews Fire 
Department.  The ISBN number is 1-884532-59-4 and it was published by Butler 
Book Publishing in Louisville, KY.  

Recommended Book: 
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If the ???? were ????????? today they’d stop, most likely, at St. Matthews, where five roads come to-
gether.  They’d think they’d got as far as possible.  Anyhow, they’d see no point in going on to Louis-
ville for St. Matthews has everything or nearly so. 
 

Traffic lights, for example.  Two, to be exact; there were three, but this was conceded to be a little too 
swanky.  And two banks, two drug stores, two dry goods emporiums, two five and tens, three chain 
groceries and five beauty parlors. 
 

You need a couple of traffic lights where three major highways and two other roads come together.  In 
fact, for a community of two or tree thousand people-do your own counting; nobody knows, exactly-
you need nearly everything.  St. Matthews aims to have it. 
 

It used to be Gilman’s Point-the place where 5 roads come together.  The roads are, of course, Shel-
byville Pike, Lexington Road, Westport Toad, Chenoweth Lane and Breckenridge Lane.  The site is 
now one mile east of Louisville, on the Shelbyville Pike.  The city limits are still discernible, but the 
suburban fringes touch.  Soon you’ll have to figure out the difference.  St. Matthews is fast taking the 
“sub” out of suburb. 
 

But when Daniel Oilman came out from Louisville, about 1840, it was a long way out from town.  
Even 25 years later the nearest toll-gate was well down Frankfort Avenue, in Clifton, this side of Cres-
cent Hill—using the names we know today.  But the five roads came together then as now, and traffic 
of one kind or another had established a settlement thee, long before even the horse and buggy days.  
So Dan Gilman found it a good place, right at the “point,” to set up a tavern and several stores dispens-
ing liquors on the side, or vice versa.  There he held forth, a substantial and respected citizen of the 
community, for 30 or 40 years. 
 

Thus it was that the settlement became known, to travelers along these roads from miles around. Old 
timers call it that, or just “The Point,” today.  But meanwhile a little church had been established, on 
the then northern edge of the settlement, across the Short Line Railroad.  It was an episcopal Church, 
and was called St. Matthews.  It, too, had become a factor in the community; people went to church at 
“St. Matthews” for 50 years.  It was, some citizens thought, a better name for a postoffice than 
“Gilman’s Point.”  The first postoffice, opened in 1854, was called St. Matthews.  So, in course of 
time, was named the railroad station, too.  And so, of course, the took hold.  But some local historians 
stubbornly contend there is no St. Matthews, officially, and never was. 
 

As a matter of fact, excepting the postoffice, the community was never St. Matthews or anything else, 
officially.  It was never incorporated as a town. It just grew.  But how it grew!! 
 

Twenty five years ago, St. Matthews was, statistically, the largest single shipping point of Irish potato's 
in the Unites States—and that means, probably, in the world.  Farmers had discovered that two crops 
to the acre could be grown in the ???????????? climate of St. Matthews and vicinity.  To potatoes—
and the potato-growers’ association—St. Matthews owes an enviable position on the map.  There are 
two of these associations, operated upon somewhat different lines, functioning largely, through St. 
Matthews now—the St. Matthews Produce Exchange run by R. W. Hite, and the Worthington Produce 
Association, run by H. H. Simcoe.  But the advance of the suburbanite has pushed the potato-growing 
zone back to Lyndon and beyond—up Worthington and Prospect way.  The Holzheimer land, on 
which acres of potatoes were visible only recently from “The Point,” is “Breckenridge Villa,” a popu-
lous subdivision, today, and Henry Holzheimer, Jr. who quit potato-growing to make the deal, is a real 
estater now. 
 

It was Henry Holzheimer, Sr. who, coming out from town with money to invest, bought old Dan Gil-
man’s store and some good farm land nearby shortly after the war between the states.  Three Bauer 
brothers, Louis, Henry and John, bought out the store or stores about 1890, and the Holzheimer's went 
to farming only.  The Holzheimer's and the Bauer's belong to the middle and modern picture of St. 
Matthews.  Louis Bauer now is local bank president, and the Bauer's, their son, their nephews and the 
like, are into nearly everything. 
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St. Matthews has had a long and varied history.  You might almost say, if you like the word, that it has 
run the gamut.  Fairly young old-timers around the Falls Cities may remember “The Point” as a fa-
mous place for cock fights.  Some of the best birds in the country were brought here and fought, open-
ly, in the good old days.????????????????? much as $100,000 changed hands in the betting in a single 
night.  Latterly, of course, the thing had to be done somewhat under cover; but many now-substantial 
citizens in their young days sportively inclined  could tell good stories about cock fights at “The 
Point.” 
 

The memories of these citizens do not go back far enough, however.  They do not go back to the days 
when the “haut tone” of Louisville (the term is from an old newspaper clipping) went out to St. Mat-
thews to visit at neighboring estates, or to attend the races at old Woodlawn Race Track.  Woodlawn 
flourished in the years just after the Civil War.  Though the establishment was relatively small, it was 
the local Saratoga and driving out by carriage and pair in the racing season was quite the social ting to 
do.  The old clubhouse still stands, converted into a dwelling and long occupied by Norbourne Arter-
burn.  It is now “Sunny Acres,” the property of Dr. Roy Moore, of Louisville.  Some of the stables are 
still intact on the Palmer place nearby. 
 

In those days and before, the country around St. Matthews was (it is getting to be again)–oh, definitely! 
- “haut tone.”  A historic example of that shining and substantial background was James Brown, who 
came out from Delaware in 1800, to establish himself as a country gentleman, near old Dutch Station 
on Beargrass creek.  His house survives toady, to some extent remolded, just north of St. Matthews on 
brown’s Lane.  It is now and has been for several generations the Monohan home, “Wildwood.” 
 

There, in the midst of a beautifully parked estate, lives the widow of John M. Monohan, son of that 
sturdy Edward Monohan, who was a power in the affairs of Louisville,  St. Matthews and the sur-
rounding country.  It will be remembered that three successive Monohan's have been directors  and one 
a president—of the First National Bank, of Louisville. 
 

The history of James Brown does not stop with his establishment as a country gentleman.  He had two 
sons, Arthur and Theodore Brown.  Arthur inherited his father’s house; Theodore built a tall, Gothic 
structure across the road.  It is Theodore ?????????? here about today.  His father had been interested 
in charitable and religious enterprises, and Theodore became a lay preacher.  He married twice, and 
was the proud father of some 20 children.  A story ?????? of his taking them all to church on Sundays 
in the old family coach.  Lay-preacher Brown never lacked a congregation. 
 

So great-grandfather Brown, country gentleman, founded well.  There are Browns in Louisville and 
elsewhere today, all good people in their various walks of life, as everybody knows. 
 

It is difficult to get away from the James brown, or Monohan, place without another word.  There is, of 
course, the original spiral staircase, reaching three stories, that architects come to see.  And it is said 
that in some of the windows are the original panes of glass.  On one of these—an old pane when it was 
done—was scratched with a diamond ring the names and date, “Mary Gray.  Anita Gray. 1875.”  A 
few years ago an old descendant, came from California to Louisville for a visit, came out to the old 
house to see if the inscription was still thee.  It was and is. 
 

Getting farther back, there is the old Rudy house, north of St. Matthews on Rudy Lane.  This house, 
built of stone to withstand the Indians and the elements by first-settler Jacob Rudy for his eldest son 
Daniel dates back in part to about 1790.  In it have lived six generations of Rudy's.  The sixth is repre-
sented by Thomas S. (Sam) Rudy, his wife and children, now.   Occupying it as a matter of sentiment, 
they have dug out from the plastered walls the old stone fire places, and have restored the old house 
comfortably.  County Judge Ben F. Ewing, his mother a Rudy, was born in this house. 
 

Also north of St. Matthews, back on what is now called Massey Avenue, is a fine old house now occu-
pied by Judge Churchill Humphrey.  It was built in 1806 of brick made on the place for Col. Henry 
Massey and his bride.  Miss Helen Bullitt.  The house, to any Kentuckian, and particularly to any resi-
dent of Jefferson County, needs no further introduction.  It also fits into the Rudy family picture, for 
one of the Rudy's occupied it at one time.  A long, straight road, from Westport Road to Massey  
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 Avenue, recently has been completed.  Judge Humphrey’s house, at the far end, sits athwart it.  It is a 
beautiful setting.  
 

On Chenoweth Lane—and in the history of Kentucky you have in Chenoweth a name to conjure 
with—stands another old house, though oldest only in a small part of its structure.  It is now occupied 
ly Alex Heyburn and Mrs. Heyburn, grand-daughter of Dr. Henry Chenoweth, who 50 or 60 years was 
a resident of the place and a physician outstanding in Jefferson county.  The memory of this Doctor 
Chenoweth is particularly revered in the neighborhood of St. Matthews.  He was, they say, the old 
country doctor of the finest type.  And a later Dr. Henry Chenoweth, his son, carried on the name in 
Louisville. 
 

A very earlier settler on the fine land near St. Matthews was Gen. John Breckenridge of Revolutionary 
history, who acquired to much land in Jefferson County that early squatters on it, the story goes, re-
mained for years undiscovered and unmolested—and of whose place no physical evidence now re-
mains but the old Breckenridge family graveyard and Breckenridge Lane. 
 

Back on this lane and a little to the right, is another old but somewhat later graveyard.  Thee are buried 
Floyds Parks, who died in 1865, and members of his family.  Floyd Parks came, as a very young man, 
from New York State and gradually acquiring a considerable fortune and large land holdings, built a 
fine colonial home, since burned, near St. Matthews.  Parks is a name which old residents of St. Mat-
thews well remember.  His lands, it is said, at one time extended from Westport Road to where Bow-
man Field is today.  Some of his descendants, now married into Louisville families of other names, tell 
fascinating stories of the old home in ante-bellum days. 
 

So. YOU see, St. Matthews, the modern on-its-toes community, has its background, too.  As, Hardin 
Herr, St. Matthews resident and Louisville lawyer, who makes local history a study, or Hewett Simcoe, 
who runs the potato-growers association on week-days and—like the postman hiking on a holiday—
hoes a small patch in his back yard on Sundays and who yet finds time to make history a hobby.  Run 
down the story of the Rudy’s, Holland Dutch, who came with the very earliest settles, or the Herr's or 
the arterburns, whom St. Matthews, claims but who, really belong to the county-at-large; whom the 
chronicler hopes to reach along one of the three major highways or, another—and whom, anyhow, eve-
rybody knows.  Or the Hite’s.  Or the Bullitt’s,  Learn how the Simcoe’s, of early French ancestry, 
were represented by a Governor-General of Canada and a Colonel who surrendered with Cornwallis, 
remained in, America, married “Mad Anthony” Wayne’s sister, and brought A Wayne visiting to St. 
Matthews.  Dodge, if you can, the story that Abraham Lincoln, young lawyer from Springfield, Ill., 
came occasionally through St. Matthews a visiting his old friend Speed or his grandfather’s grave in 
Jefferson County.  Or his your eyebrows, if you must, at the legend that even George Washington, 
through his in-laws, had a branch on the local family tree. 
 

These may not be the stories that you hear at the nightly meetings of St. Matthews Country Club, at 
one or the other of the drug stores—take your pick.  No at the weekly sessions of the Ladies Five Hun-
dred Club—an institution which, some say, really started on euchre and which now plays contract 
bridge.  But those who lived these stories, their descendants of their collaterals, are the kind of folks 
you meet.  Plus the folks who, in recent years or days, have moved out from Louisville, and who hope 
St. Matthews the suburb which in one way or another dates back 150 years, will live forever. 
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Story and Photographs by James Speed, Lithographed by Geo. G. Fetter Company, 1938 
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Presenting The Story Of St. Matthews 
 

Towards the middle of the 18th Century, pioneers came through the Cumberland Gap into Kentucky.  They made clearings 
in the heavy timber along picturesque Beargrass Creek. 
 
The gently-rolling upland in the St. Matthews neighborhood boasted soft, fertile soil, suitable for grain and vegetables, and 
cabins began to go up.  The hunting was good, and the pioneers could step from their cabins and bring down buffalo, elk, 
deer and other game with the long Kentucky rifles. 

*** 
According to the late Hardin Herr, writing in The St. Matthews Booster on January 23, 1930, Zachary Taylor, who was 
born in Virginia in 1784, was brought to Kentucky (then part of Virginia in 1785.  His family settled near what came to be 
known as St. Matthews on the old Taylor farm on Brownsboro Road, where his monument now stands.  He remained there 
until he was 24. 
 
He was married on June 17, 1810, to Margaret Smith at Gilman’s Point, where the First National Bank of St. Matthews 
now stands.  Exactly 25 years later, Gen. Taylor’s daughter, Sara Knox Taylor, was married to Jefferson Davis in a house 
at Brownsboro Road and Crescent avenue. 
 
Jacob Rudy the first, a veteran of the Revolutionary War, came here in the 1790’s and settled on a large tract of land due 
south from the Taylor monument.  He built a large log house over a spring so attacking Indians couldn’t bottle him up 
without water.  This was in the present Windy Hills neighborhood. 

*** 
Another early settler was James Brown who came here in 1799 or 1800 and established himself near the old Dutch Station 
on Beargrass Creek.  He eventually owned all the land from Shelbyville Road to Taylorsville Road on the east side of 
Browns Lane. 
 

His house on Browns Lane survives today, and architects still come to see the original spiral staircase in this home, which 
is three stories high. 
 

For several generations it was the Monohan home, “Wildwood.”  From this house came three successive Monohan's who 
were directors of the First National Bank of Louisville.  One was president. 
 
Back on what is now called Massie Avenue is a fine old house occupied by Judge Churchill Humphrey.  It was built in 
1806 of brick made on the place for colonel Henry Massey and his bride, Miss Helen Bullitt. 

*** 
On Chenoweth Lane stands the old home of Dr. Henry Chenoweth.  For over 50 years he served the St. Matthews neigh-
borhood, riding out on horseback to visit the sick. 
 
He succeeded his father, also a doctor here, and the two Chenoweth's’ service in St. Matthews totaled about 100 years.  Dr. 
Chenoweth died in 1949.  The Chenoweth house was later occupied by the Alex Heyburns. 
 

Simeon Simco ran a tavern or hotel at Rat Castle on the Jacob Rudy land, near the Taylor farm, in 1800.  The road running 
past is now Brownsboro Road.  This same road ran to Gilman’s Point. 
 

A dramatic scene was staged at the old Chrogham farm on Blankenbaker Lane, later owned by the Waters family, accord-
ing to Huett Simcoe.  The founder of Louisville, George Rogers Clark, old, dissipated, and minus one leg, was living there, 
penniless and in want.  The Virginia Legislature, hearing of his hard luck, presented him with a gold sword on the front 
porch. 
 
After the speech, Clark accepted the sword, then snarled “Go back and tell Virginia when she needed a sword I furnished 
one  Bread is what I need.  Bread!” He died near here in 1818. 

*** 
According to a master’s thesis written in 1951 by Ruth Osborne, now principal of Stivers School, there are two theories as 
to the earliest name of this community.  Some early settlers said that several ponds were situated near the corner of West-
port Road and Chenoweth lane, and these were called Gilman’s Pond.  Others say that five roads came together at this cor-
ner, and the name was Gilman’s Point. 
 

These theories stem from the fact that Daniel Gilman in about 1840 came here from Louisville and established a store at 
the sharp point made by the junction of the Westport and Shelbyville Roads.  Some say the store was a large tavern and 
stagecoach stop.  Hardin Herr claims it was a grocery store with an entrance on both roads.  The railroad station was also 
called Gilman’s Point, according to Herr.  (Mrs. Henry Holzheimer tells us that all groceries in St. Matthews in those days 
wee taverns as well.)  
 

Mrs. Osborne reports that some citizens thought it inappropriate to name a community after a saloon keeper, so they called 
it St. Matthews after an Episcopal Church established here in 1838 or 1839 on Westport Road. 
 

The General Assembly on January 1830, established a voting precinct for the community.  The people previously voted in 
Middletown.  It was called Sale’s precinct after Captain Edmund P. Sale, a tavern keeper on the Shelbyville Turnpike. 
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(The turnpike was built in 1832 by a stock company.) 
 

Sometime between 1845 and 1847, according to Herr, the precinct was renamed Gilman. 
*** 

A post office was established here in 1854 and was named after the church.  The people had previously gotten their mail at 
the Middletown, Louisville or Six Mile Island post offices.  The railroad station also was eventually called St. Matthews. 
 
Just 100 yar ago, in 1854, this area suffered a terrible drought, similar to the one today.  Everything green turned brown.  
The Ohio River quit running, and boat traffic stopped (there were no stage dams then).  You could walk across the river.  It 
finally rained in November, and then began to snow.  Many of the settlers went hungry and their livestock starved to death. 

*** 
The oldest school was in the hollow on the golf curse grounds west of Bauer’s Café, presumably now Crescent Hill Golf 
Course.  The second school, the Old Hickory School, in the 1830’s was on Westport Road below Herr’s Lane, but was 
moved to Herr Lane.  There was another school where Holy Trinity High now stands and a fourth at Gilman’s Point. 
 

John Simcoe in about 1850 went to school here with the Hite’s, Taylor’s, Barbour’s, Chamberlains and Dorsey’s, and with 
Bob Womack, discoverer of the Cripple Creek Gold Mine, on of the richest in the United States.  Old Sam Womack, his 
father, owned a large tract of land not far from Gilman’s Point. 

*** 
The three husky young Arterburn boys moved down by ox teams from Virginia with their mother, and settled on a tract 
known afterward as the old Arterburn place.  It joined the Bullitt farm and was eventually acquired by William Marshall 
Bullitt. 
 
When the Civil War opened and seemed certain to do away with slavery, the discouraged Bullitt rented the farm to the 
three Arterburn’s, Norbourne, Crawford, and Covington. 
 

Norbourne Arterburn eventually owned about 1,000 acres to the east and south of Gilman’s Point, worth abut $3.5 million 
today, not counting improvements.  He kept it well into this century. 
 
A railroad train began running from Frankfort to Louisville in 1851. It was small and slow, with hand brakes, but it allowed 
commuters to establish large country homes in the St. Matthews area and gave a hint of what was to come in the next cen-
tury when St. Matthews became a refuge for people seeking to live in comfort away from the noise of Louisville. 
 

Later an electric interurban service was established between LaGrange and Louisville, and served St. Matthews until the 
end of the 1930’s when busses took over. 
 
The northern General Buell brought an army to Gilman’s Point during the Civil War and threw up breastworks west of 
Bauer’s Restaurant on Brownsboro Road. Old John Lausman had his arm shattered in a battle there. 
 

Huett Simcoe tells of Fred Rudy entertaining a half—dozen Federal soldiers with all hospitality and cursing them at the 
same time for invading the south. The whiskey was flowing freely, and the more he drank the more abusive he got. He was 
pulled out of bed that night by several soldiers and was nearly hanged. A northern general, who knew the old man, inter-
ceded and got him off with a month in jail. 

*** 
The large flocks of wild pigeons which had been a feature of life around Gilman’s Point from the beginning, were last seen 
about 1866. By 1870 they were all gone. 

*** 
The Woodlawn race track flourished in St. Matthews in 1866. It was small but drew large crowds from Louisville and other 
neighboring communities. It went bankrupt and closed after five years. The club house was converted into a home and was 
occupied for many years by the Norbourne Arterburns. 
 
By 1887, according to Mrs. Ruth H. Osborne, St. Matthews had an international reputation as a breeding place for fine trot-
ting horses.  L. L. Dorsey owned an extensive farm, headed by the famous stud, Gold Dust. Glenview Farm was conducted 
by James McFerran. The famous Pancost lived there later when John E. Green owned the farm. The Indian Hill stud farm 
was the property of R. S. Veech and was headed by Princeps. 

*** 

The first large commercial establishment was started in St. Matthews in 1880. It wan Nanz and Neuner, florists, now still 
operating at Willis Avenue and Breckinridge Lane in the name of Mans and Kraft Florists. The flower gardens covered 
about 30 acres. 
 

Bauer Brothers in 1887 organized a general merchandise store which soon became the largest in Jefferson County outside 
of Louisville. A large glass of the best whiskey coat 15 cents and you paid 10 cents for all the beer you could drink. The 
bank of St. Matthews was begun in 1906 with a capital of $15,000.00. For a while it was in a small building next to Bau-
er’s grocery at the corner of Chenoweth Lane and Frankfort Avenue. Louis Bauer was president. It was eventually moved 
into the Bauer place and was modernized and enlarged, and the grocery moved next door. 
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*** 
St. Matthews was a dusty town in 1900, according to Fred Gnau, treasurer of the City of Richlawn. The only stores were 
Bauer’s Grocery, Greishaber’s Grocery, Mans and Neuner Florists, a blacksmith shop and a saloon. Potatoes were 20 cents 
a barrel and rotting in the fields. Most of the land north of the Louisville & Nashville railroad was a swamp all the way to 
Brownsboro Road. Squire Shadburne and Henry Bauer were big men around town. 
 
According to Henry Holzhelmer, St. Matthews was known far and wide as a gambling center for roosters. On Osa Lentz’s 
12 acre farm, some men bet as high as $1,000.00 of their potato money on a single rooster fight. Chicken fights were also 
held at Bauer’s Grocery and Saloon. 
 

Fisher’s Grocery and Tavern was on Frankfort Avenue about half a block west of Bauer’s. 
 
The development of St. Matthews took a significant turn in 1907. Henry and Emma Koehler in June divided a piece of 
property on St. Matthews Avenue, between Westport and Shelbyville Roads, into 25 lots.  It was the first St. Mathews sub-
division. 
 

(Just when the land was developed is not clear. The Jefferson County Plat Book only reveals the date land is subdivided. In 
many cases, development takes place many years after subdividing. Norbourne Estates, for example, was subdivided in the 
late 1920’s, but the Great Depression came, and home—building there was held up for more than 10 years.)  
 
The next subdivision was started in 1912. Mary Mans cut up a piece of her property into 35 lots. It was on Grandview and 
Mans Avenue, between Fairfax and Breckinridge Lane. She called this Maplewood. 
 

In March 1913, Mrs. Louise Neuner, H. A. Kraft and Sallie D. Kraft, cut up a piece of property into 57 lots. It was bounded 
by Fairfax Avenue and Breckinridge Lane, and Shelbyville Road and Nanz Avenue. They called this Magnolia.  

* * * 

A. J. “Tony” Eline had set up St. Matthews’ first real estate office in 1912. 
 

He built what he calls the fourth store in St. Matthews at the northeast corner of St. Matthews Avenue and Shelbyville 
Road, where the Frankel—Klapheke Drug Store is now located. (The other three, he said, were Bauer’s, Fischer’s and the 
old Edinger Grocery where the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company now stands.) Young Mr. Rime had his real es-
tate office in one part and there was a dry goods store in the back. 
 
He took a chance on Maplewood place and built 25 homes there in 1913. They sold well. Later, he developed the adjoining 
Magnolia tract, and that, too, was a success. 
 

Mr. Eline opened the first Ford dealership in Jefferson County in 1913. It was in his building, next to his real estate office, 
facing St. Matthews Avenue. (lord previously had only salesmen here.) 
 

He developed the Thompson Subdivision on Browns Lane, and named Sherrin, Fairfax and Grandview Avenue, in 1916. 
* * * 

The St. Matthews Produce Exchange was organized on July 5, 1909, to sell Potatoes and onions cooperatively and get bet-
ter prices for the farmers. Farmers previously had often brought their potatoes to St. Matthews and were met by buyers who 
had agreed in advance how much to pay. 
 

If the farmer refused the price, he could not sell. If he sold, he often found from the next day’s stock quotations that he had 
been given considerably less than the market price. He could not sell individually. The Eastern markets bought only in car-
load lots. 
 

To meet the situation, the exchange was organized. It extended its operations to the buying of supplies for the farmer. 
 

It began with 200 men, with J. C. Fenley as first president. It was incorporated in 1910 with a capital of $6,000.00. The 
stock was worth $5.00 a share. By 1921, it was worth more than $75.00. 
 

The St. Matthews Produce exchange in 1921 shipped 13,000,000 pounds of potatoes to every section of the United States, 
Canada, Mexico, and Cuba. It was the second largest potato exchange in the world. 
 
By 1952 there were few potatoes being grown in St. Matthews, and the few farmers left were in dairy. work. K. W. “Buck” 
Marshall in December 1952 bought the Exchange’s building at 103 Exchange Avenue for about $25,000.00. It had been 
located there since the 1937 flood. Mr. Marshall moved his lumber business there from 131 Breckinridge Lane, and anoth-
er historical St. Matthews landmark was destroyed by the conversion of a farm into a residential community. 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Department, the first of its kind in Kentucky, was organized in 1919 and was located in 
the Eline garage. Anthony Eline was the first president. Xavier Schuler was the first chief and Andrew Neichter the first 
captain. Neichter became chief in 1921 and held that position until 1939. 
 
In 1931 the department bought a new fire engine to replace the Model T. Ford chemical engine, which had a one—ton 
truck holding three 35—gallon chemical tanks. The department moved to 109 Breckinridge Lane in 1931. 
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In 1952, under John Monohan, chief since 1941, the department moved to St. Matthews Avenue, north of Shelbyville 
Road.  It now has three modern fire trucks.  The rates are $3 a year for subscribers.  If the department answers the fire 
alarm of a non-subscriber, it charges $50 per hour per piece of equipment used. 
 

In 1931 fire Insurance rates here were 96 cents per 100 valuation on real property. Today all houses within 1,000 feet of a 
fire plug or three miles of the St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Department, pay 24 cents. 
 
The department began adding radios to its fire trucks this year. 

*** 
The great St. Matthews development, begun on such a small scale, proceeded slowly. A few subdivisions were built up 
before the 1920’s. There was a boom in the 20’s, followed by almost no activity in the 30’s. The boom picked up again in 
1938 and lasted until the war. The last great boom started in 1946, and is still going. St. Matthews, however, is about 90 
per cent developed, and the boom is moving eastward and northward, to Middletown and Lyndon. 
 
Prior to 1925, St. Matthews was mostly a series of farms. 
 
The Holzheimer farm was in the southwest corner of Shelbyville Road and Breckinridge Lane. Henry Holzheimer’s hold-
ings also extended across Shelbyville Road and bordered along the west side of Chenoweth Lane. The Zehnder Dairy Farm 
was in the corner south of Lexington Road and east of Cannons Lane. 
 
The R. W. Herr farm was south of the Holzheimer farm, along Breckinridge Lane. The Tinsley farm was between the Herr 
farm and Beargrass Creek. Across Beargrass Creek was the Murphy Farm. 
 

Between Browns Lane and Breckinridge Lane were the Nanz and Neuner greenhouses, the Veech farm, and the Winches-
ter farm. East of Browns Lane were the Hahn farm, the James Brown estate and the Monohan estate. 
 

The Chenoweth farm bordered along Chenoweth Lane from Brownsboro Road, halfway to Westport Road. The Stich farm 
was immediately south, extending to Westport Road. East of there were the Henry Hahn farm, the Hubbard farm, the Rudy 
farm, the Herr farm and the Rite farm. 
 

The Arterburn farm was between Westport Road and Shelbyville Road. 
 

The present day streets in those areas got their names from the farms. 
* * * 

These farms today have been broken up into about 40 subdivisions, providing homes for about 6,000 families and business-
es. 
 
The first big boom opened modestly in 1923, when Sara Thompson laid out 15 lots on Browns Lane. William Randolph 
pushed it along in 1925, when he subdivided Fairlawn, near Druid Hills, into 75 lots.  Mr. Randolph’s subdivision, and two 
others he laid out in the next two years, were developed by the Wakefield—Davis Company (now known as Wakefield—
McMakin, and one of St. Matthews’ great builders.)  
 
The boom reached enormous proportions in 1926, when nearly 900 lots were laid out. 
 
Henry Holzheimer sold the property bordered on the north by Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenue, to J. C. and Lula 
Turner for the astonishingly high sum of $3,000.00 an acre. That set the standard for all future transactions here until the 
depression. L. Holzheimer’s father had once owned the property at Gilman’s Point, and owned a grocery and tavern which 
later became Bauer's. He knew the value of the land. 
 

The Turners bought the property, which extended southward to Nanz, east to Breckinridge Lane, and west to Lexington 
Manor which came up to Bauer Avenue. They subdivided it into 360 lots and developed it. 
 

That same year, the U. S. Realty Association subdivided and developed 260 lots in Lexington Manor, which extended from 
Lexington Road to Willis and from Cannons Lane up to and including Cornell Place. 
 
Also in 1926, Joe Oeschsli laid out 146 lots in Excella Place. This extended from one block east of Browns Lane to the 
Arterburn Estate and included Ridgeway and Brown Avenues. 
 

William Randolph laid out 110 lots on Fairy Drive and Elfin in Druid Hills in 1926, and added 34 lots in 1927. 
 
Norbourne Estates was also laid out in 3927 by the Moorhouse Corporation and included 190 lots between Browns end 
Breckinridge Lanes. 
 
A. J. Eline laid out the Herriston subdivision in the 1920’s, named Warner and Grandview Avenues, and built 80 homes. In 
1929, he subdivided Plainview, 14 lots on Sherrin Avenue. 
 
The area comprising the original City of St. Matthews was built up during the 1920’s by Henry Bauer and Alex Staebler. 
 
The first restaurant opened during the 1920’s in St. Matthews on the present site of the Whitligig. 
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During 20’s the American Legion Zachary Taylor Post was organized here, and an auxiliary was formed in 1931. 
*** 

The St. Matthews Booster, which seems to have been St. Matthews’ first newspaper, was first published in 1925 just as the 
boom started. In 1930, when the depression was starting, it was a full size sheet of four pages, and was running a series of 
articles by Hardin Herr on the history of St. Matthews. H. C. Kelting stated in the paper that St. Matthews’ population was 
about 4,000. 
 
Efforts were being lade to keep the Community Club alive. It had been organized in 1924. The Marshall planing Mill had 
been established on Breckinridge Lane. The Booster reported that a rate of 40 cents on each $100.00 of taxable property in 
Jefferson County had been adopted by the Fiscal Court. Property subject to taxation in Jefferson County for 1930 was 
$819,768,661.00, and increase of $18,731,368.00 over 1929. 

*** 
The Eight—Mile House was burned to the ground in March, 1930. It had been established 40 years earlier by Martin 
Ochsner. 
 

E. S. Monohan, who had come to St. Matthews in August, 1877, died in April at the age of 74. There were 5,000 subscrib-
ers in the Belmont telephone exchange and less than 2,000 were in St. Matthews. There was a miniature golf course on 
Lexington Road between Bauer Avenue and Shelbyville Road. 
 

The Booster reported June 12, 1930, the. sale of a five—acre tract between St. Matthews Avenue and Chenoweth Lane 
north of the railroad tracks to the Palmer Asbestos and Rubber Company of Chicago for construction of a $1,000,000.00 
plant. Holy Trinity organized its first PTA. and elected a Mrs. Wine president. 
 
A second bank was opened in St. Matthews during the 1920s called the Farmer’s and Depositors Bank; it failed during the 
depression. It was revived again in 1933, and Walter Crady was the president. 
 

(A third financial institution, Colonial Federal Savings and Loan Association was opened here in 1944.) 
*** 

During the depression, lots in St. Matthews were selling for as low as $300.00, and land along Rudy Lane, now worth over 
$3,000.00 per lot, was moving slowly at $1,000.00 an acre. 
 
Building was stopped almost completely during the 1930’s. Business was bad everywhere. A few tracts of land were subdi-
vided. Judith and Sevier Bonnie laid out 16 lots in Bonniewood which lay between Napanee and Ormond Road, and St. 
Matthews and Chippewa Avenues. 
 

A, J. Eline in May, 1933, laid out 45 lots in English Village No. 1. These lay along Hycliffe and St. Germaine Court be-
tween Breckinridge Lane and Wallace. In December, 1936, English Village No. 2 was laid out in 53 lots. These were along 
Hycliffe, St. Germaine Court and Norbourne Boulevard from Macon to Wallace. 
 

In 1933 and 1934, A. J. Eline developed Hycliffe from Breckinridge Lane to Browns Lane but this moved slowly. 
 

A. J. Eline sold Fords from 1913 to 1927, but switched to Buicks and Pontiacs for five years at his present location. In 
1933 he began selling Chevrolets. 
 
Stores began building up slowly along Frankfort Avenue in the 20’s and 30’s. 
 
Things began to move in 1938 following two significant developments. First Shelbyville Road and Frankfort Avenue were 
converted into a four driving lane U. S. highway, channeling traffic into St. Matthews. 
 

Second, Taylor Drugs built a series of stores in the triangle at the junction of Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenues.  
 
St. Matthews now had a modern highway, and it’s first shopping center.  The pall of the depression began to lift. 
 
Wakefield—McMakin began laying out Springhill and the Bonnies’ subdivided Stonebridge. In 1939, the pace picked up 
as Charles and Rita Speith and Burk Liner laid out 110 lots along Grandview, Breckinridge lane, Meridian, Hycliffe, Warn-
er and Browns Lane. 
 
Charles Trueheart built a string of stores along the south side of Lexington Road, and Joseph Knust built several more. This 
was shortly before America was involved in the war, and business was picking up rapidly. 
 

Winchester Place, with 56 lot., was subdivided by the Speiths and Burk in 1940. The following year they subdivided Ar-
lington into 159 lots. All these lay between Breckinridge and Hubbards Lane, from Winchester to the Monohan estate. 
Beechwood was subdivided. 
 

A. J. Eline subdivided Parkside in 1940 into 98 lots, along Monohan, Hubbards Lane, and Norbourne. 
*** 

The St. Matthews Sun had begun publication in 1935, 14 years before The Voice. It was tabloid size. 
 

Under publisher Ton Jones, who also published The Jeffersonian, it grew to full size in 1953, but ceased publication toward 
the end of the year. 
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*** 
At this point, the clubs began to form. 
 
The St. Matthews Woman’s Club held its first meeting on April 17, 1938.  Mrs. E. V. Bazzell  was elected first president.  
It was federated on May 16,  There were only 15 charter members. 
 

The Club moved into its spacious clubhouse on Shelbyville Road in 1948.  Today there ae 400 members and a long waitin 
list to get in.  Mrs. William C. Cruse, Jr., is president, and the club during the winter months has two speakers each Mon-
day, tow annual style shows and flower shows, and contributes to numerous charities. 

*** 
The Younger Woman’s Club of St. Matthews was organized on October 16, 1939.  Five girls attended the first meeting.  
Six officers were elected.  The sixth was a girl who agreed to be a member but  couldn’t make the meeting. 
 

The club remained a junior department of the St. Matthews Woman’s Club until it was reorganized in 1949.  today it has 
more than 200 members, and actively supports the Community Center. 

*** 
The St. Matthews Lions Club was established February 2, 1940.  There were 17 charter members, and Dr. J. Charles Ray 
was first president.  The club nearly collapsed at first when it insisted on holding weekly meetings.  Sometimes two mem-
bers showed up at Dr. Harry Frankel’s drug counter. 
 
But the meetings were changed to twice a month and that proved to be the salvation of the club.  The membership is now 
80.  George Walker, Jr., is president. 
 
The outstanding projects of the club have been sight conservation, spastics, the Community Center Playground and the 
annual Christmas baskets. 

*** 
The St. Matthews Rotary Club organized in 1941 with 22 members.  Charles W. Owens was first president.  The four areas 
of activity marked out by the club for itself are club service, vocational service, community service, and international ser-
vice. 
 

The present membership is about 70  Edward Kraft is president. The Rotary Club led the fight in 1951 to improve traffic 
conditions in St. Matthews.  With the aid of the Lions and Kiwanis, Rotary got the State to make a four way stop at 
Breckinridge Lane and Willis; install left turn lanes into Willis and St. Matthews Avenues off Shelbyville Road, and bar 
left turns from Shelbyville Road into Breckinridge Lane or Chenoweth. 
 

It also took a leading part, along with this Lions, Kiwanis, and People’s Committee, in revamping the rate structure of the 
St. Matthews Sanitation District in 1951. 

*** 
The St. Matthews Eagles Club was chartered on November 26, 1941, with 131 members.  It had 289 members by Decem-
ber, 1953.  Primarily a fraternal organization the Eagles assist sick members, destitute families, and support the Communi-
ty Center. 
 

The Eagles have their own air-conditioned clubhouse above Eline Chevrolet, 3918 Frankfort Avenue. 
*** 

The St. Matthews Commuter, a weekly tabloid of 12 pages, was established here in 1940 and published it first issue on 
February 9, Ed Sales was publisher and Peyton Hoge, editor. 
 
He reported that 300 people met at Holy Trinity under the auspices of the St. Mathews Civic Club to protest against a bill 
to make it easier for Louisville to annex St. Matthews.  The great running feud between the communities, which has lasted 
to this day, had already begun. 
 
Mockingbird Valley established a sixth class city that month and helped establish a pattern that was to guide the future 
action of many St. Mathews Communities. 
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After the war, St. Matthews was the most attractive place for people wishing to live in the suburbs. It was the only section 
of the county free from industrial smoke. 
 
The build—up began. Joe Kunst added more stores on Lexington Road. The A & P moved into its present location, con-
structed by Mr. Eline, in 1945. 
 

Norbourne Estates’ development got under way again and grew into one of the loveliest communities in the State. Colonial 
Village on Chenoweth Lane was subdivided into 113 lots extending as far north as Elmwood and west to the Masonic 
Home. Beechwood Village and Richlawn were developed, and work began in Fairmeade. 
 

Windy Hills began building up. 
*** 

Despite the fact that everyone deplored strip and spot zoning, these practices continued. The growing area needed more 
stores all the time. When Wallace Center was built in 1949, everyone hoped it might establish a pattern for St. Matthews. 
The block of stores sits well off the Lexington Road highway behind Terry’s Texaco gas station. Traffic is slow and park-
ing facilities good. 
 

But it didn’t work. Nobody wanted to build homes along Shelbyville Road. They wouldn’t sell...so the strip zoning began, 
out of necessity. Joseph Knust in August 1951 opened eight stores at the corner of Shelbyville Road and Hubbards Lane, 
the first major shopping center outside the immediate St. Matthews business district. The following year, the Wakefield—
McMakin Company built 11 stores right up against Knust’s just to the east. This is the Fairmeade Shopping Center. 
 
The strip zoning continued. Buck Marshall announced he would build a $2,000,000.00 shopping center on a 20 acre tract 
on the south side of Shelbyville Road, with 12 to 15 stores, and parking for 1,000 cars. 
 
(He gave a 99—year lease on the property in March, 1954, to a New York firm, who will do the job.) 

*** 
Behind the Fairmeade stores, a whole new subdivision began going up in April 1952. 
 
The Voice of St. Matthews revealed on January 4, 1952, that Greater St. Matthews spent $3,000,000.00 building and im-
proving homes, roads, and stores in 1951. 
 

About 270 homes were built at a cost of nearly $2,800,000.00. Three sixth—class cities and two road districts had repaired 
streets at a cost of about $68,000.00 and $108,535.00 was spent on commercial buildings. 

* * * 
All this was not lost on Louisville. The City began a major drive in 1946 to annex St. Matthews. An ordinance proposing to 
annex the business district was approved by the aldermen, but St. Matthews business men stopped it with a filed protest. 
Louisville then passed another ordinance seeking to annex the residential area. The Court of Appeals ruled against the 
move in 1910. 
 
It was obvious that some form of government had to be provided for St. Matthews. Up until that time, the County govern-
ment, headed by the chief executive officer, the County Judge, provided some road service and police protection. This was 
inadequate. 

*** 
Robert Ripley commented in 1949 that St. Matthews, with a population of 10,000 to 20,000, was the largest unincorporated 
community in the United States. 
 
If not annexation, what? 
 
Richlawn solved the problem for itself on January 24, 1948, by incorporating itself into a sixth class city. 
 
St. Matthews followed suit. On March 22, 1950, the sixth class city of St. Matthews was incorporated. It comprised about 
three square blocks from Westport Road to Gilman Avenue and from Chenoweth Lane to St. Matthews Avenue. 
 

The very next day, the sixth class city passed an ordinance proposing to annex the entire area comprising the St. Matthews 
Sanitation District No. 1, an area with about 15,000 population. 
 
The People’s Committee of St. Matthews declaring that a city with a 75 cent tax rate maximum could only pay fat salaries 
and lawyers’ fees but could not provide services, filed a protest suit. The protest was sustained by the Court of Appeals, 
reducing St. Matthews to its original boundaries. 
 

Louisville then tried to annex St. Matthews again. A protest suit was filed and Louisville lost the case before a jury in Au-
gust 1952. The law office neglected to file an appeal within the required 90 days, claiming it forgot. This ruled out further 
annexation moves on the same area for two years. This move alienated much of Louisville’s support in St. Matthews. 
 
The People’s Committee of St. Matthews declaring that a city with a 75 cent tax rate maximum could only pay fat salaries 
and lawyers’ fees but could not provide services, filed a protest suit. The protest was sustained by the Court of Appeals, 
reducing St. Matthews to its original boundaries. 
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Louisville in January 1953 made a move which alienated further support in St. Matthews. The city’s law department re-
vived the 1946 ordinance proposing to annex the business district. This was viewed as an attempt to get the high—
revenue—producing business section without the low—revenue—producing residential area. 
 

The Annexation Protective Association, composed of St. Matthews business men, organized to fight the move. 
* * * 

In 1950, the Municipal League polled St. Matthews to get the people’s view on the question of annexation vs. incorpora-
tion. Only 13 per cent of the people responded and 70 percent said they preferred to be annexed by Louisville. There is 
general agreement that Louisville’s actions in the past four years have, reduced this number to about 50 percent or less. 
 

To further alienate support, Louisville has three times tried to get legislation passed making it easier to annex unincorpo-
rated territory and sixth class cities. All were unsuccessful. 
 

Further, it was revealed by The Voice in 1952 that while Louisville homeowners had to pay property taxes totaling $3.55 
per year per $100.00 valuation, the City of Richlawn paid $2.05; Beechwood $1.80; and Bellewood $2.01. 
 
On September 29, 1953, the City of St. Matthews annexed the business district, and if Louisville loses its suit in October, 
will be permitted to keep it. 
 

Five other ordinances were proposed to annex the residential area. Three were opposed. Two succeeded, and St. Matthews 
now is a city of about 5,100 people comprising the area bounded by Bellewood, Frankfort Avenue, Windy Hills and 
Chenoweth Lane, and another area bounded by Shelbyville Road, Norbourne Boulevard, Eline Avenue and Browns Lane. 
 

It became a fourth class city on June 19, 1954, has contracted for garbage service, hired a police chief, and expects reve-
nues of $71,000.00 for the current year. 

*** 
Other communities in this area were not idle in providing themselves with needed services, while the Cities of Louisville 
and St. Matthews were fighting it out in court. 
 
The following sixth class cities were organized, in addition to Richlawn and St. Matthews: Cherrywood Village, April 
1950; Springlee, April 1950; Norbourne Estates and Druid Hills, fall 1950; Beechwood Village, June 5, 1951, Fairmeade, 
September 1953; Windy Hills, September 30, 1952, and St. Regis Park, August 1953; Woodlawn Park, Plymouth Village, 
Brownsboro Village, Indian Hills, Parkside and Broad Yield. 
 

These cities set up planning and zoning commissions to regulate building, and to protect property values, organized police 
courts and patrolling to cut down speeding, repaired streets, and furnished fire protection. 
 

Richlawn, for instance, completed street repairs in May 1951 at a cost of $10,000.00. Springlee resurfaced all streets in 
1953 at a  cost of $32,000.00. Tax rates vary. In Springlee everyone pays $35.00 a year. In Druid Hills each family pays 
$12.00. The average city has about 200 homes. 
 

Richlawn set up traffic court May 21, 1951, in Judge L. D. Stiglitz’s back yard and fined five persons $10.00 to $12.50 for 
exceeding the 20 m.p.h. speed limit. Norbourne Estates and Beechwood Village have set up similar courts. 

*** 
And they have started annexing Windy Hills last month, annexed 94 lots at the owner’s request.  Beechwood Village at-
tempted to annex the 20-acre Buck Marshall property in front of the city and fronting on Shelbyville Road to bring it under 
the authority of its zoning board and make sure that nothing but homes are built there.  Mr. Marshall is opposing the move. 
 

The small cities have no delusions of grandeur.  They organized for various reasons: to keep from being annexed by Louis-
ville, which has a bad reputation for not providing city services to annexed areas even though colleting taxes; and to keep 
from being annexed by St. Matthews, which they feel has not proved its ability to govern.   
 

They wanted to set up organizations to enforce traffic rules and provide minimum city services, including street repair and 
garbage collection, and to protect their property values while the courts are deciding what to do about this area. 
 
They serve without pay.  It is notable that some of the volunteer officers have contributed their time straight through, with-
out let up.  W. T. Porter of Bellewood and James Noland of St. Matthews have been Mayors from the time their cities were 
incorporated. 
 

Political maneuvering is kept to a minimum, though a group of dissatisfied residents, led by Mayor Brad Williams, man-
aged to unseat Fred Burkel’s slate in Beechwood last fall. 
 
To take care of roads badly in need of repair, the people of various unincorporated St. Matthews neighborhoods began 
forming road districts. 
 
If home owners representing 51 per cent of the front footage on a given section of road sign a petition requesting formation 
of a road district, the County Judge grants it the power to organize.  An engineer is hired, the road is built, (by officers ap-
pointed by the County Judge) for their proportionate share of the expenses, including a ten-year maintenance fund. 
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Twelve such road districts have been formed in the last four years and have rebuilt roads at a cost of $144,000. 
 

The creation of St. Matthews Sanitation District No. 1 to provide sever service here was first attempted in 1945, but was 
delayed until 1949.  Business expansion was slowed considerably with no severs available. 
 
Estimated to cost $1 million, it cost $2.75 million because of the delay and because the construction companies struck rock.  
Two of the firms who helped build it went bankrupt. 
 

It has now about 3,500 users and 75 miles of sewer lines, and is beginning to make money. Its first fiscal year ending June 
1, 1950, it lost $79,424. The following year it lost $25,356. The-third year it lost about $3,000 but last year it announced a 
profit of $28,511. 
 

Criticized for a rate structure showing partiality, to commercial and industrial users W. Howard Hopkins, general manager, 
asked the St. Matthews Lions, Rotary and Kiwanis Clubs, as well as the People’s Committee to appoint representatives to 
study the rate structures and make recommendations for change.  
 
In the absence of any other governmental body in St. Matthews, these organizations assumed the responsibility. The com-
mittee recommended a rate raise for industrial users and commercial users, with no rate raises in home rates. 
 

In May 1952, the Sewer District virtually doubled rates for industrial and commercial users, 
*** 

The St. Matthews Kiwanis Club was organized in April, 1945. Burton W. Stevens was the first president. There were 30 
charter members. There are nearly 60 now. Sam Evans is president.  
 

The Kiwanis has been an active supporter of the Community Center. It has engaged in such civic projects as county—wide 
collection of clothes for war relief, aiding of handicapped children; and support of the Y.M.C.A. 
 

The St. Matthews Optimists Club was organized this year under the leadership of Dick Wheeler, president.  
 

The St. Matthews Community Center was organized in 1945 by Burton Stevens, James Noland (Mayor of St. Matthews) 
and Ray Chanaberry, to provide recreation facilities for local youngsters. 
 

It sponsored the Potato Festival, which began in 1946, to provide funds for this project. The Festival was a social success 
and at first made money. The profit in 1949 was $7,358.00. The next year it made nearly $7,000.00. Profits dropped to 
$4,953.00 in 1951. It was renamed the charity Raiser in 1953, and profits dropped to less than $3,000.00. 
 

What caused this decline is debatable. Many people think it was the let—down in attractions. When the Festival first start-
ed, a contest was held to pick a queen and this proved popular. Stars such as Payee King were hired to entertain. These 
project. were later dropped and the profits seemed to decline accordingly. 

* * * 
The Festival has now been abandoned by the Center as a fund— raising project, and the Potato Festival property turned 
back to the Arterburn family from whom it was leased. 
 

This year, a Booster’s day celebration will be held instead.  The St. Matthews Community Theater and All-Star  all games 
with Pony League and Little League teams competing. 
 
The Center opened a playground on Shelbyville Road next to the Drive—In theatre in June 1951, on 20 acres leased at 
$1,200.00 a year from the Arterburn family. Little League and Pony League play is held there. There is also a softball dia-
mond and picnic grounds. 
 
A wading pool was opened in July, 1953, at a cost of $3,148.  Plays are staged by the St. Matthews Community Theatre in 
the building donated in 1953 by the Billy Reynolds family. 
 

Members of the Community Center are the St. Matthews Eagles and Auxiliary, the local Rotary, Kiwanis, and Lions Clubs, 
the Woman’s Club of St. Matthews, the Younger Woman’s Club of St. Matthews, the Greathouse and Holy Trinity 
P.T.A.’s, the St. Matthews Community Theatre, the local Legion and Auxiliary and the S. Matthews F.F.W. 

*** 
The St. Matthews Community Theatre was organized is 1963 by Richard Clay and Emil Aun. It staged its first play, “‘The 
Man Who Came to Dinner,” in the Community Center Building in December 1953. Since then it has staged two more 
plays. Profits have amounted to about $1,200.00, and nearly $1,000.00 of that total has been donated to the Community 
Center. 

* * * 
The stock of the Farmers and Depositors Bank was bought by the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company in August, 
1951. It is now known as the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company of St. Matthews. President Walter Crady retired in 
September 1951. 
 
Karl Straub in January 1951 succeeded H. A. Nelson as president of the St. Matthews National Bank. That year the bank 
became the First National Bank of St. Matthews. 

*** 
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Under the leadership of John Ed Pearce, the River Road Country club, called the “poor man’s country club,” was organized 
in 1952.  Members with their own hand renovated the old Standard Club at Zorn avenue at River Road.  But they discov-
ered there is no such thing as a poor man’s country club, in the words of mr. Pearce. 
 

Families admitted now must pay a $370 entry fee.  Monthly dues are $25 per month, but $10 is returned in chits to be spent 
on the premises. 

*** 
The St. Matthews Committee on the Louisville Chamber of Commerce was organized in October 1953, to replace the de-
funct St. Matthews Chamber of Commerce.  Karl Straub was elected first president. 
 

After a pool conducted by the Committee, most St. Matthews merchants on May 14 of this year agreed to stay open until 9 
o’clock on Friday evenings.  The clothing stores generally continued to remain open on Thursday evenings. 
 

Greathouse school, according t a master’s thesis by Ruth Osborne, principal of Stivers School, has served the St. Matthews 
area for over 75 years.  It has expanded from one room to 27, and each of the six locations of the school has been as nearly 
as possible at the population center of the district at that time. 
 

It was first located in 1877 at Browns Lane opposite the family of Phillip brown.  Miss Emma Russell was the first teacher.  
Enrollment was seven.  Tuition was $4.94 per month.  It moved near the Holzheimer home off Breckinridge Lane, and then 
to the present site of the Palmer Asbestos and Rubber Company. 
 

At this location, Miss Tommie Greathouse was appointed teacher for the five-month term at a salary of $210.38.  It re-
mained a one-room school until 1903, with Miss Tommie the only teacher for 19 years.  She remained as principal 15 years 
more. 
 
The school was moved in 1888 to the triangle formed by Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenue.  The 1893 enrollment was 
32.  Another room was added the following year.  In 1912 a third teacher was added. 
 

The older boys made the fires in the mornings and the girls swept and dusted.  The boys carried the drinking water in a 
cedar bucket from a pump located where the First National Bank of St. Matthews now stands. 
 
A new building was erected on Shelbyville Road opposite Browns Lane in 1915 for $7,252.00. It was named Greathouse 
School in honor of Miss Tommie. She retired in 1918, after 34 years. 
 

Miss Mayme Waggener was principal from 1918 to 1946. 
 

Eline Realty Company bought the old building on Shelbyville Road for $7,355.00 and converted it into eight apartments. 
 

The school moved to its present site in 1939. The building and grounds coat $88,000.00. A lunchroom was added in 1950 
to serve 280 persons. The school, designed to hold 650 pupils, had an enrollment of 740 In 1952. Overcrowding was 
caused by the tremendous increase in St. Matthews population. 
 

* * * 
Stivers School, named after O. J. Stivers, former Superintendent of County Schools, opened on Westport Road in 1952 
with Mrs. Ruth Osborne as principal. It was designed for 480 pupils. Enrollment the first year was 530. Classes the past 
year were being held in the auditoriums and reading rooms. 
 

Eastern High School in Middletown was opened in 1950, with Jack Dawson as principal, to take care of the St. Matthews 
high school population. Designed for 1,500 students it had 1,631 enrolled in 1951. 
 
The build—up in St. Matthews was putting tremendous pressure on County Schools. The voters in 1952 OK’d a 50 cent 
special building tax to relieve the situation. 
 

With the extra tax money, the Board of Education built two schools here. The first, Chenoweth Elementary School, named 
after Dr. Henry Chenoweth, is on Brownsboro Road west of Chenoweth Lane. 
 

The Mayme Waggener Junior High School, named after the former Greathouse principal, is on Hubbards Lane. John 
Lowe, assistant principal at Eastern, will be the principal. 
 
Until Eastern was organized, students went to Anchorage High School. 
 

* * * 
The Eastern Eagles have had a good record in sports.  Under Earl Duncan the basketball team won 55 games and lost 25 in 
four years.  The football team, under Emmett Goranflo, has won 22 and lost 13. 
 
Eastern graduated 160 in 1952, 202 in 1953, and 220 in 1954. 
 

*** 
Holy Trinity School was established in the 1880’s along with the church.  It has a current enrollment of about 600.  Our 
Lady of Lourdes has an enrollment of about 450. 
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Holy Trinity High School was established on the grounds of the old Holy Trinity church and school on Shelbyville road 
last fall with a freshman class.  One class will be added each year until it is a full-fledged high school 
 

*** 
 
At present there are about 200 business firms in St. Matthews and about 20,000 people.  The Highbaugh realty is currently 
engaged in building ad additional 1,110 homes near the Inner belt Highway. 
 

The area lying between Cannon’s Lane and the eastern limits of Beechwood Village and Windy Hills, and between 
Brownsboro Road and the City of Springlee’s south boundary is generally known as the St. Matthews area.  It is about 90 
per cent developed and its market value has climbed past the $100 million mark. 
 

A slight trend is discernible to move farther eastward in search of open spaces.  Many families have moved out of St. Mat-
thews in the past five years to settle in undeveloped Middletown and Lyndon. 
 

The business causalities have been astonishing.  Dr. Harry Frankel, at Frankel-Klapheke Drug Store, said he can only re-
member a handful of stores still bearing the same name as when he move here 25 years ago:  Eline Realty, St. Matthews 
Hardware, Zehnder’s Dairy, Nanz and Neuner, Palmer Asbestos and Rubber Company, Plehn’s Bakery and Marshall Plan-
ing Mill.   
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Robert O. Dorsey, Sr. was in the real estate business in St. Matthews begin-
ning before World War I, and Bob Dorsey, Jr. who wrote this history was in 
the insurance business and served in the city council.   

(NOTE:  Much of this history was copied from the 1954 Voice history) 
 

HISTORY OF ST. MATTHEWS 
Compiled By  

R. O. (Bob) Dorsey 
November 1968 

 
St. Matthews is certainly among the best suburban cities man has made for himself. There are few communities which can 
boast of a better economic stability, low crime rate, beautiful homes, adequate shopping centers, dedicated city officials, 
civic organizations, most desirable people, churches and education facilities. 
 

Toward the middle of the 18th century, pioneers came through the Cumberland Gap into Kentucky. They made clearings in 
the heavy timber along picturesque Beargrass Creek. 
 
The gently—rolling upland in the St. Matthews neighborhood boasted soft, fertile soil, suitable for grain and vegetables, 
and cabins began to go up. The hunting was good, and the pioneers could step from their cabins and bring down buffalo, 
elk, deer and other game with the long Kentucky rifles. 
 

* * * 

Beargrass Creek was fed by cold, clear springs, and grist mills were built to take place of grinding by hand. Good—sized 
black bass and other frying fish abounded in the streams. Hemp became a staple crop. The tough fibre was twisted into ca-
ble by negro labor, and Kentucky rope and hawsers for sailing vessels became standard equipment along the Atlantic sea-
board. Supplies were brought in by boat. 
 

Plantations were built, and stage coaches began regular deliveries through St. Matthews, the oldest community in Jefferson 
County next to Jeffersontown and Middletown. 
 

* * * 
According to the late Hardin Herr, writing in The St. Matthews Booster on January 23, 1930, Zachary Taylor, who was 
born in Virginia in 1784, was brought to Kentucky (then part of Virginia) in 1785. His family settled near what came to be 
known as St. Matthews on the old Taylor farm on Brownsboro Road, where his monument now stands. He remained there 
until he was 24. 
 

He was married on June 11, 1810, to Margaret Smith at Gilman’s Point, where the First National Bank of St. Matthews 
now stands. Exactly 25 years later, General Taylor’s daughter, Sara Knox Taylor, was married to Jefferson Davis in a house 
at Brownsboro Road and crescent Avenue. 
 

Jacob Rudy the first, a veteran of the Revolutionary War, can. here in the 1790’s and settled on a large tract of land due 
south from the Taylor monument. He built a large log house over a spring so attacking Indians couldn’t bottle him up with-
out water. This was in the present Windy Hills neighborhood. 
 

Another early settler was James Brown who came here in 1199 or 1800 and established himself near the old Dutch Station 
on Beargrass creek. He eventually owned all the land from Shelbyville Road to Taylorsville Road on the east side of 
Browns Lane. 
 
His house on Browns Lane survives today, and architects still come to see the original spiral staircase in this hone, which is 
three stories high. 
 

For several generations it was the Monohan home, “Wildwood”. From this house came three successive Monohan who 
were directors of The First National Bank of Louisville. One was president. 
 
Back on what is now called Massie Avenue is a fine old house occupied by Judge Churchill Humphrey. It was built in 1806 
of brick made on the place for Colonel Henry Massey and his bride, Miss Helen Bullitt. 
 
The oldest school was in the hollow on the golf course grounds west of Bauer’s Cafe, presumably now Crescent Hill Golf 
Course. The second school, the Old Hickory School, in the 1830’s was on Westport Road below Herr Lane, but was moved 
to Herr Lane. There was another school where Holy Trinity High School now stands, and a fourth at Gilman’s Point. 
 
John Simcoe in about 1850 went to school here with the Hite’s, Taylor’s, Barbour’s, chamberlains and Dorsey’s, and with 
Bob Womack, discoverer of the Cripple Creek Gold Mine, one of the richest in the United States. Old Sam Womack, his 
father, owned a large tract of land not far from Gilman’s Point. 
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The three husky young Arterburn boys moved down by ox teams from Virginia with their mother and settled on a tract 
known afterward as the old Arterburn place. It joined the Bullitt farm and was eventually acquired by William Marshall 
Bullitt. 
 

When the Civil War opened and seemed certain to do away with slavery, the discouraged Bullitt rented the farm to the three 
Arterburns, — Norbourne, Crawford and Covington. 
 
Norbourne Arterburn eventually owned about 1,000 acres to the east and south of Gilman’s Point, worth about $3.5 million 
today, not counting improvements. He kept it well into this century. 
 

A railroad train began running from Frankfort to Louisville in 1851. It was small and slow, with hand brakes, but it allowed 
commuters to establish large country homes in the St. Matthews area and gave a hint of what was to come in the next centu-
ry when St. Matthews became a refuge for people seeking to live in comfort away from the noise of Louisville. 
 
Later an electric interurban service was established between LaGrange and Louisville, and served St. Matthews until the 
end of the 1930’s when busses took over. 
 

The northern General Buell brought an army to Gilman’s Point during the Civil War and threw up breastworks west of 
Bauer’s Restaurant on Brownsboro Road. Old John Lausman had his arm shattered in a battle there. 
 
Huett Simcoe tells of Fred Rudy entertaining a half—dozen Federal soldiers with all hospitality and cursing them at the 
same time for invading the south. The whiskey was flowing freely, and the more he drank the more abusive he got. He was 
pulled out of bed that night by several soldiers and was nearly hanged. A northern general, who knew the old man, interced-
ed and got him off with a month in jail. 
 

* * * 

The large flocks of wild pigeons which had been a feature of life around Gilman’s Point from the beginning, were last seen 
about 1866. By 1870 they were all gone. 
 
The Woodlawn race track flourished in St. Matthews in 1866. It was small but drew large crowds from Louisville and other 
neighboring communities. It went bankrupt and closed after five years. The club house was converted into a home and was 
occupied for many years by the Norbourne Arterburns. 
 
By 1887, according to Mrs. Ruth H. Osborne, St. Matthews had an international reputation as a breeding place for fine trot-
ting horses.  L. L. Dorsey owned an extensive farm, headed by the famous stud, Gold Dust. Glenview Farm was conducted 
by James McFerran. The famous Pancost lived there later when John E. Green owned the farm. The Indian Hill stud farm 
was the property of R. S. Veech and was headed by Princeps. 
 

The first large commercial establishment was started in St. Matthews in 1880. It wan Nanz and Neuner, florists, now still 
operating at Willis Avenue and Breckinridge Lane in the name of Mans and Kraft Florists. The flower gardens covered 
about 30 acres. 
 

Bauer Brothers in 1887 organized a general merchandise store which soon became the largest in Jefferson County outside 
of Louisville. A large glass of the best whiskey coat 15 cents and you paid 10 cents for all the beer you could drink. The 
bank of St. Matthews was begun in 1906 with a capital of $15,000.00. For a while it was in a small building next to Bauer’s 
grocery at the corner of Chenoweth Lane and Frankfort Avenue. Louis Bauer was president. It was eventually moved into 
the Bauer place and was modernized and enlarged, and the grocery moved next door. 
 

* * * 

St. Matthews was a dusty town in 1900, according to Fred Gnau, treasurer of the City of Richlawn. The only stores were 
Bauer’s Grocery, Greishaber’s Grocery, Mans and Neuner Florists, a blacksmith shop and a saloon. Potatoes were 20 cents 
a barrel and rotting in the fields. 
 

Most of the land north of the Louisville & Nashville railroad was a swamp all the way to Brownsboro Road. Squire Shad-
burne and Henry Bauer were big men around town. 
 

St. Matthews was known far and wide as a gambling center for roosters. On Osa Lentz’s 12 acre farm, some men bet as 
high as $1,000.00 of their potato money on a single rooster fight. Chicken fights were also held at Bauer’s Grocery and 
Saloon. 
 

Fisher’s Grocery and Tavern was on Frankfort Avenue about half a block west of Bauer’s. 
 

The development of St. Matthews took a significant turn in 1907. Henry and Emma Koehler in June divided a piece of 
property on St. Matthews Avenue, between Westport and Shelbyville Roads, into 25 lots. 
 

(Just when the land was developed is not clear. The Jefferson County Plat Book only reveals the date land is subdivided. In 
many cases, development takes place many years after subdividing. Norbourne Estates, for example, was subdivided in the 
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late 1920’s, but the Great Depression came, and home—building there was held up for more than 10 years.) The next sub-
division was started in 1912. Mary Mans cut up a piece of her property into 35 lots. It was on Grandview and Mans Ave-
nue, between Fairfax and Breckinridge Lane. She called this Maplewood. 
 

In March 1913, Mrs. Louise Neuner, H. A. Kraft and Sallie D. Kraft, cut up a piece of property into 57 lots. It was bounded 
by Fairfax Avenue and Breckinridge Lane, and Shelbyville Road and Nanz Avenue. They called this Magnolia. 
 

* * * 

A. J. “Tony” Eline had set up St. Matthews’ first real estate office in 1912. 
 

He built what he calls the fourth store in St. Matthews at the northeast corner of St. Matthews Avenue and Shelbyville 
Road, where the Frankel—Klapheke Drug Store is now located. (The other three, he said, were Bauer’s, Fischer’s and the 
old Edinger Grocery where the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company now stands.) Young Mr. Rime had his real estate 
office in one part and there was a dry goods store in the back. 
 

He took a chance on Maplewood place and built 25 homes there in 1913. They sold well. Later, he developed the adjoining 
Magnolia tract, and that, too, was a success. 
 
Mr. Eline opened the first Ford dealership in Jefferson County in 1913. It was in his building, next to his real estate office, 
facing St. Matthews Avenue. (lord previously had only salesmen here.) 
 

He developed the Thompson Subdivision on Browns Lane, and named Sherrin, Fairfax and Grandview Avenue, in 1916. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Produce Exchange was organized on July 5, 1909, to sell Potatoes and onions cooperatively and get bet-
ter prices for the farmers. Farmers previously had often brought their potatoes to St. Matthews and were met by buyers who 
had agreed in advance how much to pay. 
 

If the farmer refused the price, he could not sell. If he sold, he often found from the next day’s stock quotations that he had 
been given considerably less than the market price. He could not sell individually. The Eastern markets bought only in car-
load lots. 
 

To meet the situation, the exchange was organized. It extended its operations to the buying of supplies for the farmer. 
 

It began with 200 men, with J. C. Fenley as first president. It was incorporated in 1910 with a capital of $6,000.00. The 
stock was worth $5.00 a share. By 1921, it was worth more than $75.00. 
 
The St. Matthews Produce exchange in 1921 shipped 13,000,000 pounds of potatoes to every section of the United States, 
Canada, Mexico, and Cuba. It was the second largest potato exchange in the world. 
 

By 1952 there were few potatoes being grown in St. Matthews, and the few farmers left were in dairy. work. K. W. “Buck” 
Marshall in December 1952 bought the Exchange’s building at 103 Exchange Avenue for about $25,000.00. It had been 
located there since the 1937 flood. Mr. Marshall moved his lumber business there from 131 Breckinridge Lane, and another 
historical St. Matthews landmark was destroyed by the conversion of a farm into a residential community. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Department, the first of its kind in Kentucky, was organized in 1919 and was located in 
the Eline garage. Anthony Eline was the first president. Xavier Schuler was the first chief and Andrew Neichter the first 
captain. Neichter became chief in 1921 and held that position until 1939. 
 

In 1931 the department bought a new fire engine to replace the Model T. Ford chemical engine, which had a one—ton truck 
holding three 35—gallon chemical tanks. The department moved to 109 Breckinridge Lane in 1931. 
 
In 1952, under John Monohan, chief since 1941, the department moved to St. Matthews Avenue, north of Shelbyville Road. 
 
In 1931 fire Insurance rates here were 96 cents per 100 valuation on real property. Today all houses within 1,000 feet of a 
fire plug or three miles of the St. Matthews Volunteer Fire Department, pay seventh class rates. 
 

* * * 
The great St. Matthews development, begun on such a small scale, proceeded slowly. A few subdivisions were built up 
before the 1920’s. There was a boom in the 20’s, followed by almost no activity in the 30’s. The boom picked up again in 
1938 and lasted until the war. The last great boom started in 1946, and is still going. St. Matthews, however, is about 90 per 
cent developed, and the boom is moving eastward and northward, to Middletown and Lyndon. 
 
Prior to 1925, St. Matthews was mostly a series of farms. 
 
The Holzheimer farm was in the southwest corner of Shelbyville Road and Breckinridge Lane. Henry Holzheimer’s hold-
ings also extended across Shelbyville Road and bordered along the west side of Chenoweth Lane. The Zehnder Dairy Farm 
was in the corner south of Lexington Road and east of Cannons Lane. 
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The R. W. Herr farm was south of the Holzheimer farm, along Breckinridge Lane. The Tinsley farm was between the Herr 
farm and Beargrass Creek. Across Beargrass Creek was the Murphy Farm. 
 
Between Browns Lane and Breckinridge Lane were the Nanz and Neuner greenhouses, the Veech farm, and the Winchester 
farm. East of Browns Lane were the Hahn farm, the James Brown estate and the Monohan estate. 
 

The Chenoweth farm bordered along Chenoweth Lane from Brownsboro Road, halfway to Westport Road. The Stich farm 
was immediately south, extending to Westport Road. East of there were the Henry Hahn farm, the Hubbard farm, the Rudy 
farm, the Herr farm and the Rite farm. 
 

The Arterburn farm was between Westport Road and Shelbyville Road. 
 

The present day streets in those areas got their names from the farms. 
 

* * * 
These farms today have been broken up into about 40 subdivisions, providing homes for about 6,000 families and business-
es. 
 
The first big boom opened modestly in 1923, when Sara Thompson laid out 15 lots on Browns Lane. William Randolph 
pushed it along in 1925, when he subdivided Fairlawn, near Druid Hills, into 75 lots.  Mr. Randolph’s subdivision, and two 
others he laid out in the next two years, were developed by the Wakefield—Davis Company (now known as Wakefield—
McMakin, and one of St. Matthews’ great builders.)  
 

The boom reached enormous proportions in 1926, when nearly 900 lots were laid out. 
 
Henry Holzheimer sold the property bordered on the north by Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenue, to J. C. and Lula 
Turner for the astonishingly high sum of $3,000.00 an acre. That set the standard for all future transactions here until the 
depression. L. Holzheimer’s father had once owned the property at Gilman’s Point, and owned a grocery and tavern which 
later became Bauer's. He knew the value of the land. 
 

The Turners bought the property, which extended southward to Nanz, east to Breckinridge Lane, and west to Lexington 
Manor which came up to Bauer Avenue. They subdivided it into 360 lots and developed it. 
 

That same year, the U. S. Realty Association subdivided and developed 260 lots in Lexington Manor, which extended from 
Lexington Road to Willis and from Cannons Lane up to and including Cornell Place. 
 

Also in 1926, Joe Oeschsli laid out 146 lots in Excella Place. This extended from one block east of Browns Lane to the Ar-
terburn Estate and included Ridgeway and Brown Avenues. 
 
William Randolph laid out 110 lots on Fairy Drive and Elfin in Druid Hills in 1926, and added 34 lots in 1927. 
 
Norbourne Estates was also laid out in 3927 by the Moorhouse Corporation and included 190 lots between Browns end 
Breckinridge Lanes. 
 
A. J. Eline laid out the Herriston subdivision in the 1920’s, named Warner and Grandview Avenues, and built 80 homes. In 
1929, he subdivided Plainview, 14 lots on Sherrin Avenue. 
 

The area comprising the original City of St. Matthews was built up during the 1920’s by Henry Bauer and Alex Staebler. 
 

The first restaurant opened during the 1920’s in St. Matthews. 
 

In 1925 the American Legion Zachary Taylor Post was organized here, and an auxiliary was formed in 1931. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Booster, which seems to have been St. Matthews’ first newspaper, was first published in 1925 just as the 
boom started. In 1930, when the depression was starting, it was a full size sheet of four pages, and was running a series of 
articles by Hardin Herr on the history of St. Matthews. H. C. Kelting stated in the paper that St. Matthews’ population was 
about 4,000. 
 
Efforts were being lade to keep the Community Club alive. It had been organized in 1924. The Marshall planing Mill had 
been established on Breckinridge Lane. The Booster reported that a rate of 40 cents on each $100.00 of taxable property in 
Jefferson County had been adopted by the Fiscal Court. Property subject to taxation in Jefferson County for 1930 was 
$819,768,661.00, and increase of $18,731,368.00 over 1929. 
 

* * * 
The Eight—Mile House was burned to the ground in March, 1930. It had been established 40 years earlier by Martin 
Ochsner. 
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E. S. Monohan, who had come to St. Matthews in August, 1877, died in April at the age of 74. There were 5,000 subscrib-
ers in the Belmont telephone exchange and less than 2,000 were in St. Matthews. There was a miniature golf course on 
Lexington Road between Bauer Avenue and Shelbyville Road. 
 

The Booster reported June 12, 1930, the. sale of a five—acre tract between St. Matthews Avenue and Chenoweth Lane 
north of the railroad tracks to the Palmer Asbestos and Rubber Company of Chicago for construction of a $1,000,000.00 
plant. Holy Trinity organized its first PTA. and elected a Mrs. Wine president. 
 

A second bank was opened in St. Matthews during the 1920s called the Farmer’s and Depositors Bank; it failed during the 
depression. It was revived again in 1933, and Walter Crady was the president. 
 
(A third financial institution, Colonial Federal Savings and Loan Association was opened here in 1944.) 
 

* * * 
During the depression, lots in St. Matthews were selling for as low as $300.00, and land along Rudy Lane, now worth over 
$3,000.00 per lot, was moving slowly at $1,000.00 an acre. 
 

Building was stopped almost completely during the 1930’s. Business was bad everywhere. A few tracts of land were subdi-
vided. Judith and Sevier Bonnie laid out 16 lots in Bonniewood which lay between Napanee and Ormond Road, and St. 
Matthews and Chippewa Avenues. 
 

A, J. Eline in May, 1933, laid out 45 lots in English Village No. 1. These lay along Hycliffe and St. Germaine Court be-
tween Breckinridge Lane and Wallace. In December, 1936, English Village No. 2 was laid out in 53 lots. These were along 
Hycliffe, St. Germaine Court and Norbourne Boulevard from Macon to Wallace. 
 
In 1933 and 1934, A. J. Eline developed Hycliffe from Breckinridge Lane to Browns Lane but this moved slowly. 
 
A. J. Eline sold Fords from 1913 to 1927, but switched to Buicks and Pontiacs for five years at his present location. In 1933 
he began selling Chevrolets. 
 

Stores began building up slowly along Frankfort Avenue in the 20’s and 30’s. 
 

Things began to move in 1938 following two significant developments. First Shelbyville Road and Frankfort Avenue were 
converted into a four driving lane U. S. highway, channeling traffic into St. Matthews, Second, Taylor Drugs built a series 
of stores in the triangle at the junction of Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenues. St. Matthews had a modern highway, and 
its first shopping center. The pall of the depression began to lift. 
 
Wakefield—McMakin began laying out Springhill and the Bonnies’ subdivided Stonebridge. In 1939, the pace picked up 
as Charles and Rita Speith and Burk Liner laid out 110 lots along Grandview, Breckinridge lane, Meridian, Hycliffe, Warn-
er and Browns Lane. 
 

Charles Trueheart built a string of stores along the south side of Lexington Road, and Joseph Knust built several more. This 
was shortly before America was involved in the war, and business was picking up rapidly. 
 
Winchester Place, with 56 lot., was subdivided by the Speiths and Burk in 1940. The following year they subdivided Ar-
lington into 159 lots. All these lay between Breckinridge and Hubbards Lane, from Winchester to the Monohan estate. Bee-
chwood was subdivided. 
 
A. J. Eline subdivided Parkside in 1940 into 98 lots, along Monohan, Hubbards Lane, and Norbourne. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Sun had begun publication in 1935, 14 years before The Voice. It was tabloid size. 
 

Under publisher Ton Jones, who also published The Jeffersonian, it grew to full size in 1953, but ceased publication toward 
the end of the year. 
 

* * * 
After the war, St. Matthews was the most attractive place for people wishing to live in the suburbs. It was the only section 
of the county free from industrial smoke. 
 

The build—up began. Joe Kunst added more stores on Lexington Road. The A & P moved into its present location, con-
structed by Mr. Eline, in 1945. 
 
Norbourne Estates’ development got under way again and grew into one of the loveliest communities in the State. Colonial 
Village on Chenoweth Lane was subdivided into 113 lots extending as far north as Elmwood and west to the Masonic 
Home. Beechwood Village and Richlawn were developed, and work began in Fairmeade. 
 
Windy Hills began building up. 
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* * * 
Despite the fact that everyone deplored strip and spot zoning, these practices continued. The growing area needed more 
stores all the time. When Wallace Center was built in 1949, everyone hoped it might establish a pattern for St. Matthews. 
The block of stores sits well off the Lexington Road highway behind Terry’s Texaco gas station. Traffic is slow and park-
ing facilities good. 
 

But it didn’t work. Nobody wanted to build homes along Shelbyville Road. They wouldn’t sell...so the strip zoning began, 
out of necessity. Joseph Knust in August 1951 opened eight stores at the corner of Shelbyville Road and Hubbards Lane, 
the first major shopping center outside the immediate St. Matthews business district. The following year, the Wakefield—
McMakin Company built 11 stores right up against Knust’s just to the east. This is the Fairmeade Shopping Center. 
 

The zoning continued. Buck Marshall announced he would build a $2,000,000.00 shopping center on a 20 acre tract on the 
south side of Shelbyville Road, with 12 to 15 stores, and parking for 1,000 cars. 
 
He gave a 99—year lease on the property in March, 1954, to a New York firm. 
 

* * * 
Behind the Fairmeade stores, a whole new subdivision began going up in April 1952. 
 
The Voice of St. Matthews revealed on January 4, 1952, that Greater St. Matthews spent $3,000,000.00 building and im-
proving homes, roads, and stores in 1951. 
 
About 270 homes were built at a cost of nearly $2,800,000.00. Three sixth—class cities and two road districts had repaired 
streets at a cost of about $68,000.00 and $108,535.00 was spent on commercial buildings. 
 

* * * 
All this was not lost on Louisville. The City began a major drive in 1946 to annex St. Matthews. An ordinance proposing to 
annex the business district was approved by the aldermen, but St. Matthews business men stopped it with a filed protest. 
Louisville then passed another ordinance seeking to annex the residential area. The Court of Appeals ruled against the 
move in 1910. 
 
It was obvious that some form of government had to be provided for St. Matthews. Up until that time, the County govern-
ment, headed by the chief executive officer, the County Judge, provided some road service and police protection. This was 
inadequate. 
 

* * * 
Other communities in this area were not idle in providing themselves with needed services, while the Cities of Louisville 
and St. Matthews were fighting it out in court. 
 

The following sixth class cities were organized, in addition to Richlawn and St. Matthews: Cherrywood Village, April 
1950; Springlee, April 1950; Norbourne Estates and Druid Hills, fall 1950; Beechwood Village, June 5, 1951, Fairmeade, 
September 1953; Windy Hills, September 30, 1952, and St. Regis Park, August 1953; Woodlawn Park, Plymouth Village, 
Brownsboro Village, Indian Hills, Parkside and Broad Yield. 
 

These cities set up planning and zoning commissions to regulate building, and to protect property values, organized police 
courts and patrolling to cut down speeding, repaired streets, and furnished fire protection. 
 
Richlawn, for instance, completed street repairs in May 1951 at a cost of $10,000.00. Springlee resurfaced all streets in 
1953 at a  cost of $32,000.00. Tax rates vary. In Springlee everyone pays $35.00 a year. In Druid Hills each family pays 
$12.00. The average city has about 200 homes. 
 
Richlawn set up traffic court May 21, 1951, in Judge L. D. Stiglitz’s back yard and fined five persons $10.00 to $12.50 for 
exceeding the 20 m.p.h. speed limit. Norbourne Eatates and Beechwood Village have set up similar courts. 
 

* * * 
They wanted to set up organizations to enforce traffic rules and provide minimum city services, including street repair and 
garbage collection, and to protect their property values while the courts were deciding what to do about this area. 
 
They serve without pay. It is notable that some of the volunteer officers have contributed their time straight through, with-
out letup. 
 

To take care of roads badly in need of repair, the people of various unincorporated St. Matthews neighborhoods began 
forming road districts. 
 
If home Owners representing 51 per cent of the front footage on a given section of road sign a petition requesting formation 
of a road district, the County Judge grants them the power to organize. An engineer is hired, the road is built, and the prop-
erty owners are billed (by officers appointed by the County Judge) for their proportionate share of the expenses, including a 
ten year maintenance fund. 
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Robert Ripley commented in 1949 that St. Matthews, with a population of 10,000 to 20,000, was the largest unincorporated 
community in the United States. 
 
If not annexation, what? 
 
Richlawn solved the problem for itself on January 24, 1948, by incorporating itself into a sixth class city. 
 
St. Matthews followed suit. On March 22, 1950, the sixth class city of St. Matthews was incorporated. It comprised about 
three square blocks from Westport Road to Gilman Avenue and from Chenoweth Lane to St. Matthews Avenue. 
 

The very next day, the sixth class city passed an ordinance proposing to annex the entire area comprising the St. Matthews 
Sanitation District No. 1, an area with about 15,000 population. 
 
The People’s Committee of St. Matthews declaring that a city with a 75 cent tax rate maximum could only pay fat salaries 
and lawyers’ fees but could not provide services, filed a protest suit. The protest was sustained by the Court of Appeals, 
reducing St. Matthews to its original boundaries. 
 

Louisville then tried to annex St. Matthews again. A protest suit was filed and Louisville lost the case before a jury in Au-
gust 1952. The law office neglected to file an appeal within the required 90 days, claiming it forgot. This ruled out further 
annexation moves on the same area for two years. This move alienated much of Louisville’s support in St. Matthews. 
 

* * * 
Louisville in January 1953 made a move which alienated further support in St. Matthews. The city’s law department re-
vived the 1946 ordinance proposing to annex the business district. This was viewed as an attempt to get the high—
revenue—producing business section without the low—revenue—producing residential area. 
 
The Annexation Protective Association, composed of St. Matthews business men, organized to fight the move. 
 

* * * 
In 1950, the Municipal League polled St. Matthews to get the people’s view on the question of annexation vs. incorpora-
tion. Only 13 per cent of the people responded and 70 percent said they preferred to be annexed by Louisville. There is gen-
eral agreement that Louisville’s actions in the past four years haye, reduced this number to about 50 percent or less. 
 
To further alienate support, Louisville has three times tried to get legislation passed making it easier to annex unincorpo-
rated territory and sixth class cities. All were unsuccessful. 
 

Further, it was revealed by The Voice in 1952 that while Louisville homeowners had to pay property taxes totaling $3.55 
per year per $100.00 valuation, the City of Richlawn paid $2.05; Beechwood $1.80; and Bellewood $2.01. 
 
Five other ordinances were proposed to annex the residential area. Three were opposed. Two succeeded, and St. Matthews 
now is a city of about 5,100 people comprising the area bounded by Bellewood, Frankfort Avenue, Windy Hills and 
Chenoweth Lane, and another area bounded by Shelbyville Road, Norbourne Boulevard, Eline Avenue and Browns Lane. 
 

It became a fourth class city on June 19, 1954, has contracted for garbage service, hired a police chief, and expects reve-
nues of $71,000.00. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Commuter, a weekly tabloid of 12 pages, was established hire in 1940 and published its first issue on 
February 9. Ed Scales was publisher and Peyton Hoge editor. 
 
It reported that 300 people met at Holy Trinity under the auspices of the St. Matthews Civic Club to protest against a bill to 
make it easier for Louisville to annex St. Matthews. The great running feud between the communities, which has lasted to 
this day, had already begun. 
 

The creation of St. Matthews Sanitation District No, 1 to provide sewer service here was first attempted in 1945, but was 
delayed until 1949. Business expansion was slowed considerably with no sewers available. 
 
Estimated to cost $1,000,000.00, it coat $2,750,000.00 because of the delay and because the construction companies struck 
rock. Two of the firms which helped build it went bankrupt. 
 

It has now about 3,500 users and 75 miles of sewer lines, and is beginning to make money. Its first fiscal year ending June 
1, 1950, it lost $79,424.00. The following year it lost $25,356.00. The third year it lost about $3,000.00, but it announced a 
profit of $28,511.00 in 1953. 
 

Criticized for a rate structure showing partiality to commercial and industrial users, W. Howard Hopkins, general manager, 
asked the St. Matthews Lions, Rotary and Kiwanis Clubs, as well as the People’s committee, to appoint representatives to 
study the rate structures and make recommendations for change. 
 
In the absence of any other governmental body in St. Matthews, these organizations assumed the responsibility. The com-
mittee recommended a rate raise for industrial users and commercial users, with no rate raises in home rates. 
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In May 1952, the Sewer District virtually doubled rates for industrial and commercial users. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Community Center was organized in 1945 by Burton Stevens, James Noland (Mayor of St. Matthews) 
and Ray Chanaberry, to provide recreation facilities for local youngsters. 
 

It sponsored the Potato Festival, which began in 1946, to provide funds for this project. The Festival was a social success 
and at first made money. The profit in 1949 was $7,358.00. The next year it made nearly $7,000.00. Profits dropped to 
$4,953.00 in 1951. It was renamed the charity Raiser in 1953, and profits dropped to less than $3,000.00. 
 

What caused this decline is debatable. Many people think it was the let—down in attractions. When the Festival first start-
ed, a contest was held to pick a queen and this proved popular. Stars such as Payee King were hired to entertain. These pro-
ject. were later dropped and the profits seemed to decline accordingly. 
 

* * * 
The Festival has now been abandoned by the Center as a fund— raising project, and the Potato Festival property turned 
back to the Arterburn family from whom it was leased. 
 
The Center opened a playground on Shelbyville Road next to the Drive—In theatre in June 1951, on 20 acres leased at 
$1,200.00 a year from the Arterburn family. Little League and Pony League play is held there. There is also a softball dia-
mond and picnic grounds. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Community Theatre was organized is 1963 by Richard Clay and Emil Aun. It staged its first play, “‘The 
Man Who Came to Dinner,” in the Community Center Building in December 1953. Since then it has staged two more 
plays. Profits have amounted to about $1,200.00, and nearly $1,000.00 of that total has been donated to the Community 
Center. 
 

* * * 
The stock of the Farmers and Depositors Bank was bought by the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company in August, 
1951. It is now known as the Citizens Fidelity Bank and Trust Company of St. Matthews. President Walter Crady retired in 
September 1951. 
 
Karl Straub in January 1951 succeeded H. A. Nelson as president of the St. Matthews National Bank. That year the bank 
became the First National Bank of St. Matthews. 
 

* * * 
The St. Matthews Committee of the Louisville Chamber of Commerce was organized in October 1953 to replace the de-
funct St. Matthews Chamber of Commerce. Karl Straub was elected first president. 
 
After a poll conducted by the Committee, most St. Matthews merchants agreed to stay open until 9:00 o’clock on Friday 
evenings. The clothing stores generally continued to remain open on Thursday evenings. 
 

* * * 
Greathouse School, according to a master’s thesis by Mrs. Ruth H. Osborne, principal of Stivers School, has served the St. 
Matthews area for over 15 years. It has expanded from one room to 27, and each of the six locations of the school has been 
as nearly as possible at the population center of the district at that time. 
 
It was first located in 1877 at Browns Lane opposite the family of Philip Brown. Miss Emma Russell was the first teacher, 
and Mrs. Lewis Lentz the first trustee in the district. Enrollment was seven. Tuition was $4.94 per month. It moved near the 
Holzheimer home off Breckinridge Lane, and then to the site of the Palmer Asbestos and Rubber Company. 
 

At this location, Miss Tommie Greathouse, was appointed teacher for the five—month term at a salary of $210.38. It re-
mained a one room school until 1903, with Miss Tommie the only teacher for 19 years. She remained as principal 15 more 
years. 
 

The school was Moved in 1888 to the triangle formed by Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenue. The 1893 enrollment was 
32. Miss Greathouse’s salary was boosted to $85.88 per month in 1902. Another room was added the following year. In 
1912 a third teacher was added. 
 

The older boys made the fires in the mornings and the girls swept and dusted. The boys carried the drinking water in a ce-
dar bucket from a pump located where the First National Bank of St. Matthews now stands. 
 

A new building was erected on Shelbyville Road opposite Browns Lane in 1915 for $7,252.00. It was named Greathouse 
School in honor of Miss Tommie. She retired in 1918, after 34 years. 
 
Miss Mayme Waggener was principal from 1918 to 1946. 
 
Eline Realty Company bought the old building on Shelbyville Road for $7,355.00 and converted it into eight apartments. 
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The school moved to its present site in 1939. The building and grounds coat $88,000.00. A lunchroom was added in 1950 
to serve 280 persons. The school, designed to hold 650 pupils, had an enrollment of 740 In 1952. Overcrowding was caused 
by the tremendous increase in St. Matthews population. 
 

* * * 
Stivers School, named after O. J. Stivers, former Superintendent of County Schools, opened on Westport Road in 1952 with 
Mrs. Ruth Osborne as principal. It was designed for 480 pupils. Enrollment the first year was 530. Classes the past year 
were being held in the auditoriums and reading rooms. 
 

Eastern High School in Middletown was opened in 1950, with Jack Dawson as principal, to take care of the St. Matthews 
high school population. Designed for 1,500 students it had 1,631 enrolled in 1951. 
 

The build—up in St. Matthews was putting tremendous pressure on County Schools. The voters in 1952 OK’d a 50 cent 
special building tax to relieve the situation. 
 
With the extra tax money, the Board of Education built two schools here. The first, Chenoweth Elementary School, named 
after Dr. Henry Chenoweth, is on Brownsboro Road west of Chenoweth Lane. 
 

The Mayme Waggener Junior High School, named after the former Greathouse principal, is on Hubbards Lane. 
 

Until Eastern was organized, students went to Anchorage High School. 
 

* * * 
ZACHARY TAYLOR’S HOME IS BROUGHT UP TO ITS TIME 

 
Springfield, Zachary Taylor’s old home off Blankenbaker Lane, is regaining the appearance it had 130 years ago. 
 

Mr. and Mrs. Paul Davis, who bought it in 1964, have taken off a front and side porch which were added around 1890. 
These porches replaced earlier porches built about 1865. 
 
The first part of the house was built in 1794—95 by Col, Richard Taylor, President Taylor’s father, and an east wing was 
added around 1830. 
 

“I know those porches were added years later because of this ‘water table’ across the front,” Mrs. Davis said. 
 

BOLTED TO FRONT WALL 
 

A “water table” is an exterior projection along the wall about three feet from the ground, along the level of the first floor. 
When rain ran off the roof, it hit this bulge and splashed away from the foundation. 
 
If there had been a porch across the front, that bulge wouldn’t have been needed, Mrs. Davis believes. 
 
She had a few moments of anxiety that perhaps the front porch had been there all the time when the wreckers found it an-
chored to the front wall with bolts 14 inches long. They were fastened on the inside of the upstairs hall and bedroom. 
 

She was reassured after the porch came down and she saw the outline of a small triangular roof above the front door, which 
apparently had covered an early front stoop. 
 

RENOVATED IN 1928 
 

The Davises plan to put two small stoops at the front and side resembling the ones the Taylor family had there. 
 

Louisville architect Frederic L. Morgan has provided them with a design for the stoops. Morgan has a long acquaintance 
with Springfield. Re made extensive improvements there in 1928 when Emmanuel Levi, then vice—president of The Cou-
rier—Journal and Louisville Times, bought the house. 
 

It was Morgan and Dr. Samuel W. Thomas, former curator at nearby Locust Grove Museum, who estimated the dates when 
Springfield was altered. 
 
Thomas thinks the east wing was added around 1830 because its inside molding and other architectural features were the 
type in use at that time. The present work by the Davises will restore the appearance the house had then. 
 

Morgan believes that porches across the front, back and side were added about 1865. He thinks the large, Victorian—style 
porches just torn down were built about 1880 or 1890. The Davises are keeping the big back porch along the first and sec-
ond floors because they like -to sit out there and use it for entertaining. 
 
Dr. John A. Brady, a St. Matthews physician whose brother, Matthew Brady, had owned Springfield, sold it to Emmanuel 
Levi. 
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At that time, Morgan made only one change in its design; he reversed a stairway so that it opened into the kitchen instead of 
on the back porch. When the Taylor's lived there, that. stairway led upstairs to a “travelers’ room.” 
 
“In those days there were few inns here,” Mrs. Davis said. “The Taylor's let travelers passing through sleep in that room 
upstairs. They went up from an outside door and their room could be locked off from the rest of the house.” 
 

Morgan also put in modern plumbing, heating and wiring and added two upstairs bathrooms. He removed many heavy inte-
rior details that apparently had been added late in the 19th century. 
 
“I wanted to take those porches off then,” Morgan said, “but Mr. Levi wouldn’t do it.” 
 

OLD PICTURE SHOWS PORCHES 
 
The Devises know that porches were on the house in 1875 because they have a picture and story from The New York Daily 
Graphic of January 19, 1875. It tells about the home and has a picture of it that shows the porches. 
 

It also tells about the Taylor family cemetery where President Taylor is buried. That now is part of the Zachary Taylor Na-
tional Cemetery, off Brownsboro Road just east of Blankenbaker Lane. 
 

Colonel Richard Taylor, a Revolutionary soldier who was an aide to General George Washington, came to the site in 1785 
and settled on a 400 acre farm on the Muddy Fork of Beargrass Creek. Zachary was 8 months old and Louisville was a 
swampy town of about 100 people. The family lived in a log house at first before the present place was started in 1794. 
Zachary Taylor was the 12th president of the United States. (1849—1850). 
 

LIVED THERE LONGEST 
 
Zachary Taylor lived there for 23 years, longer than he lived anywhere else. He was in the Army and moved from place to 
place, but his family stayed here and he often came back. 
 

In 1829, when Colonel Richard Taylor died, he left Springfield to his three Sons, Hancock, Zachary and Joseph. Later, 
Hancock acquired the estate and left it to his descendants. 
 
Zachary’s daughter, Sarah,  married Jefferson Davis, the president of the Confederacy, who had served in her father’s 1st 
Infantry Regiment before their marriage in 1835. 
 
Strangely enough, Paul Davis, who lives there now, is the grandson of Lieutenant Joseph Davis, a Confederate soldier who 
was related to Jefferson Davis. He has a bundle of letters the lieutenant wrote home during the Civil War and has a picture 
of him hanging on the wall. 
 

ORIGINAL FLOORS STILL USED 
 
“I have always wanted an old house and this one just suited us”, Mrs. Davis said. “I’ve been collecting old furniture for a 
long time.’ 
 

Springfield’s walnut woodwork gives her old furniture a magnificent setting. It came from walnut trees cut and carved on 
the Taylor farm. The floors are the original 1 1/4 inch tongue—and—groove ash that Colonel Richard Taylor put down. 
 
When Morgan modernized the house in 1928, he took walnut paneling and a walnut fireplace out of the kitchen and put it 
in the dining room. 
 

Most of the doors in the house have 18th century “lift locks” that were made in England by Carpenter & Co., Locksmith. to 
the king. They have the British royal seal on them, Davis said. 
 

Richard H. Hill, secretary and director of the Filson Club, visited Springfield while the porches were being removed. The 
Filson Club is devoted to the study of Kentucky history and Hill enjoyed the chance to look through the old house. 
 
Mrs. Davis showed him the wall between the hall and the east wing, added about 1830. That wall is solid brick and is 19 
inches thick; The other inside walls are 10 inches thick. 
 

The old home today looks much the same as it did when the Taylor's lived there. Then it stood on the edge of a 400 acre 
farm. Today, at 5608 Apache Road, it is In the midst of many new houses. 
 

* * * 
On Chenoweth Lane stands the old home of Dr. Henry Chenoweth. For over 50 years he served the St. Matthews neighbor-
hood, riding out on horseback to visit the sick. 
 

He succeeded his father, also a doctor here, and the two Chenoweth's’ service in St. Matthews totaled about 100 years. Dr. 
Chenoweth died in 1949. The Chenoweth house was later occupied by the Alex Heyburns. 
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* * * 
Simson Simcoe ran a tavern or hotel at Rat Castle on the Jacob Rudy land, near the Taylor farm, in 1800. The road running 
past is now Brownsboro Road. This same road ran to Gilman’s Point. 
 

* * * 
A dramatic scene was staged at the old Chroghan farm on Blankenbaker Lane, later owned by the Waters family, according 
to 
 
Huett Simcoe. The founder of Louisville, George Rogers Clark, old, dissipated, and minus one leg, was living there, penni-
less and in want. The Virginia Legislature, hearing of his hard luck, presented him with a gold sword on the front porch. 
 

After the speech, Clark accepted the sword, then snapped it across his knee and declared, “Go back and tell Virginia when 
she needed a sword I furnished one. Bread is what I need. Bread:” He died here in 1818. 
 

* * * 
According to a master’s thesis written in 1951 by Mrs. Ruth Osborne, there are two theories as to the earliest name of this 
community. Some early settlers said that several ponds were situated near the corner of Westport Road and Chenoweth 
Lane, and these were called Gilman’s Point. Others said that five roads came together at this corner, and the name was Gil-
man’s point. 
 
These theories stem from the fact that Daniel Gilman in about 1840 came here from Louisville and established a store at the 
sharp point made by the Junction of the Westport and Shelbyville Roads. Some said the store was a large tavern and stage-
coach stand. Hardin Herr claims it was a grocery store, with an entrance on both roads. The railroad station was also called 
Gilman’s Point, according to Herr. (Mrs. Henry Holzheimer told us that all groceries in St. Matthews in those days were 
taverns as well). 
 

Mrs. Osborne reports that some citizens thought it inappropriate to name a community after a saloon keeper, so they called 
it St. Matthews after an Episcopal Church established here in 1839 on Westport Road. 
 
The General Assembly on January 29, 1830, established a voting precinct for the community. The people previously voted 
in Middletown. It was called Sale’s precinct after Captain Edmund P. Sale, a tavern keeper on the Shelbyville Turnpike. 
(The turnpike was built in 1832 by a stock company.) 
 

Sometime between 1845 and 1847, according to Herr, the precinct was renamed for Gilman. 
 

* * * 
A post office was established here in 1854 and was named after the church. The people had previously gotten their mail at 
the Middletown, Louisville or Six Mile Island post office. The railroad station also was eventually called St. Matthews. 
 

In 1854 this area suffered a terrible drought. Everything green turned brown. The Ohio River quit running and boat traffic 
stopped (there were no stage dams then). You could walk across the river. It finally rained in November, and then began to 
snow. Many of the settlers went hungry and their livestock starved to death. 
 

** * 
A. J. ELINE HAS MADE HIS MARK ON ST. MATTHEWS 

 
As you have read the development of St. Matthews from the time when most of the land was in farms and a few wagon 
trails were the main arteries of communications, you probably have marveled at the rapid rate of development of the com-
munity. 
 

St. Matthews is certainly among the best of modern cities man has made for himself. There are few communities which can 
boast of a better economic stability, almost a non existent crime rate, and really great church and educational facilities. 
 
While the development of St. Matthews has been the work of many people, who in the final analysis are basically its 
wealth, there have been a few individuals who have had major roles in the development. 
 

The leader has been A. J. “Tony” Eline, the dean of St. Matthews businessmen, who was active in changing the face of the 
community with the construction of business buildings, apartment houses, and subdivision developments. 
 
To many, many people Mr. Kiln, meant housing, a place to live and work. He established the first realty firm in the area 
and began the first major multiple housing units, or subdivisions. 
 

To a great many other people, Mr. Eline was associated with the automobile, for he was one of the first auto dealers in the 
Louisville area, having started in 1913 when the auto was still a questionable mods of transportation. 
 

The Eline Building on Shelbyville Road which still houses the Eline Reality Company, now has small retail stores and of-
fices where once was the Eline Motor Company and later the Eline Chevrolet Company. The sidewalk in front is a remind-
er of that era as it still is constructed for automobiles to cross over. 
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Among his more modern day contributions is the Sidney Eline Memorial Library, named in memory of a son who was 
killed during World War II. It is one of many “marks” Mr. Eline made to change the face of St. Matthews. 
 
The St. Matthews Business Association best indicated Mr. Eline’s place in the community when it gave him one of three 
distinguished service awards. 
 

St. Matthews means a lot of things to most people, but there aren’t many who don’t associate St. Matthews with the name 
“Eline”. 
 

THE CHENOWETH MASSACRE 
 
Richard Chenoweth first built Fort Nelson, which bankrupted him. He was disappointed in the Government’s refusing as-
sistance in this matter, and came here in 1782, after the Floyd’s Pork massacre, and built for himself this fort, and just 
above it the cabin where he lived with his family. At that time there were no out settlements except Lynns, Bear Grass, Har-
rods Creek, and Boone’s stations. The family consisted of himself, his wife Peggy, who was a brave woman (and who was 
a McCarthy before marriage) Thomas, James, Alexander, Millie, and Naomi, the last named being at that time about two 
years old. Re also had some few persons constantly about them as guards, and at this time Rose and Bayless were with the 
family. 
 

About dusk one evening in midsummer, while this little family was talking over the past at their evening meal, they were 
suddenly surprised by sixteen Indians belonging to the tribe of the Shawnees, suddenly opening the door and rushing in. 
Rose, being the nearest to the entranceway, jumped behind the door as soon as it was swung open, and in the dreadful ex-
citement which followed, passed out undiscovered and effected an escape. Bayless was not killed outright and was burned 
at the stake at the springhouse, just a few feet distant. The old man was wounded and his daughter Millie tomahawked in 
the arm, but she escaped to the fort. The old man survived and lived many years, but was killed by the falling of a log at a 
house—raising. James, a little fellow, was with his brothers Eli and Thomas, killed at the wood—pile. The daughter Millie 
afterward married a man named Nash. Naomi, the little girl, crept to the springhouse and took refuge, child like, under the 
table. An Indian came in and placed a fire brand on the table, but it burned only through the leaf. In the morning a party of 
whites was reconnoitering and supposed the Chenoweth family all killed. Upon approaching the scene, they discovered the 
little girl, who had stood in the doorway; she told them they were all killed. The mother was scalped and at that time was 
not known to be alive, but she survived the tragedy for many years and did much execution after that with her trusty rifle. 
Her head got well, but was always bare after that. 
 

* * * 
STARTLING BURGLARY TOOK PLACE AT OXMOOR 

 
The Bullitt name and Oxmoor have close ties with the history of Jefferson County, St. Matthews and all of Kentucky. 
 
It began with Captain Thomas Bullitt, a soldier in the French and Indian wars, a man who was a company commander in 
George Washington’s own regiment. 
 

Bullitt and a party of surveyors came down the Ohio River in 1773 and carried out the first exploration and survey of the 
baggy land around the Falls of the Ohio. 
 
Then the settlers came, first in a trickle, then by the boat— load. By the 1780’s there were a number of fortified stations — 
stockade. and blockhouses — to protect the newcomers from savage Indians who roamed the area. 
 

Around what today is St. Matthews, there was Spring Station, where the Big Spring Golf Course now lies. Near Oxmoor 
was the Sturgis Station, where in 1785 more than 20 families had gathered. 
 

A year earlier, another Bullitt, Alexander Scott Bullitt, a nephew of the surveyor, had come to Jefferson County. He settled 
on a 1,000 acre tract, which he called Oxmoor. 
 
To the adjoining tract on the west in 1785 came Colonel William Christian, whose wife was the sister of the patriot Patrick 
Henry. That same year young Bullitt married the colonel’s daughter, Priscilla. Before he died in 1816, Bullitt etched his 
name deeply into Kentucky’s history. He helped frame the state constitution in 1192 and in 1800 he became the state’s first 
lieutenant governor. A County was named for him. 
 

Bullitts have always lived at Oxmoor. The present occupant is Mrs. William Marshall Bullitt who, with her late husband, an 
attorney, added two wings and a mammoth library to the house. 
 

LITTLE LOOT WAS RECOVERED 
 

Oxmoor in 1956 was the scene Of one of Kentucky’s most startling burglaries. Nearly $200,000.00 was stolen from a safe 
in the mansion. 
 
The family chauffeur and three henchmen were found guilty of the theft and sent to prison, but only a small amount of the 
loot has been recovered. 
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Evidently, Oxmoor will one day become just another part of suburbia. Interstate 64 already cuts through the middle of the 
property, and a plan for eventual urban development of the vast acreage has been drawn up. 
 
In the early 1800’s the area  around St. Matthews was known as Sales Precinct for Captain Edmund P. Sale, who had a tav-
ern along Shelbyville Road. 
 
About 1840, Daniel Gilman opened a general store and stagecoach tavern at the junction of what is now Shelbyville Road, 
Westport toad and Chenoweth Lane. 
 

Episcopal Church is Oldest 
 
St. Matthews Episcopal Church has the distinction of being the oldest church in St. Matthews. 
 
The late Hardin Herr, writing in the weekly St. Matthews Booster on March 8, 1930, explained that on May 8, 1839, the 
widow Helen N. Martin conveyed to James Brown, K. S. Smith and other vestrymen of St. Matthews Episcopal Church 
some property on Westport Road between the road and the tracks of the old L. C. and L. a. K., now a branch of the L. & N. 
 
He goes on to say that by December 29, 1839, (only seven months later) Mrs. Martin was again a widow, having married 
Major Keyes, who died.  When the church burned, the property reverted back to her. On that date, he wrote, she executed 
another deed conveying the property to Dr. H. M. Bullitt, Dr. Henry Chenoweth and Judge Joshua F. Bullitt, trustees for the 
church. 
 
For many years, he said, no services were held in the rebuilt church. The property then reverted back to the Keyes’ heirs. 
The heirs sold the property. 
 
Mr. Herr said he had information that the last—built St. Matthews Episcopal Church was torn down around 1910. 
 
Margaret Curry, secretary for the St. Matthews Episcopal Church today, said the church was founded in the 1830s and dis-
banded shortly after the turn of the century. 
 
The Voice of St. Matthews in a front page story on June 26, 1952, told the story this way: 
 
“The original church was established in 1838 on Westport Road, where the building of Palmer—Ball Company (Palmer 
Asbestos and Rubber Co.) now stands. This land was donated by members of the Bullitt and Keyes families. Other families 
closely associated with the church were the Chenoweths, Tuleys, Robinsons and Hardins. 
 
“The small community was known as Gilman’s Station, a name derived from the owner of a prosperous tavern. 
 
“In 1862 the St. Matthews church was burned to the ground, and rebuilt shortly afterward. For a time services were held in 
the rectory and girls’ school which still stand at the northeast corner of St. Matthews Avenue and the L & N railroad. 
 
“(It) was merged with the newly—organized St. Marks Church in Crescent Hill shortly after the turn of the century. 
 
“At any event, all hands agree it was the first church here and that this community was named after it.” 
 

* * * 
Today’s St. Matthews Episcopal Church held its first meeting April 2, 1948, at the home of Bishop Clingman, with 24 pre-
sent. 
 
The Diocesan Convention 12 days later granted approval for establishment of the mission church here. The Department of 
Missions contributed $1,000.00 in .1948 and $4,000.00 in 1949 for support of the new church. 
 
The present pastor, Reverend Wilfred Myll, was called from St. Marks Church in San Antonio. First services were held 
September 5, 1948, at the St. Matthews Womans Club on Shelbyville Road, and Revered Myll took over the following 
Sunday. 
 
The church purchased an 8 acre tract at Hubbards Lane and Massie Avenue and in 1951 became a full—fledged self—
supporting Episcopal Church. Architects began sketching plans for the building, and $60,000.00 was raised in three years. 
 
Ground was broken on April 6, 1952 and the first service in the lovely modern church was held February 8, 1953. 
 

* * * 
HOLY TRINITY - OLDEST CATHOLIC CHURCH 

 
Old, 1882, Shelbyville Road                                                                                      New, 1953, 501 Cherrywood Road 
 
The oldest Catholic Church here is Holy Trinity. It was organized in 1882, with Reverend Louis C. Ohle as pastor. A small 
frame church and two—room schoolhouse were erected on Frankfort Avenue. 
 
Subsequent pastors were Reverend Andrew J. Thome, 1886-1888; Reverend Henry Martens, 1883—1898; Reverend Jo-
seph Neeson, 1898—1913; Reverend John Bohlsen, 1913—1925; Reverend B. F. Besinger, C.P.S,, 1925—1938; Reverend 
John F. Knue, 1938—1945; Reverend A. 0. Gnat, 1945—1951.  
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During the administration of Fathers Bohlsen and Besinger the congregation showed its growth in the splendid buildings 
composing the parish plant, an outstanding feature of the Frankfort Avenue neighborhood. Even the disastrous fire in 1938 
meant only an improvement in the building which replaced the destroyed one. 
 

But the mushrooming expansion of the whole area required the division and relocation of Holy Trinity. This was effected 
by erecting the parish of Our Lady of Lourdes in 1950 on Breckinridge Lane, and that of St. Margaret Mary in 1953 at 
Lyndon; and further, by shifting the Holy Trinity parish plant to a new location in that section of territory remaining. 
 

This complete new plant, consisting of church and school, convent for the Ursuline Sisters teaching in the school, rectory, 
and auxiliary buildings, was erected in 1952—53 and occupies a splendid location on Cherrywood Road north of Massie 
Avenue. Reverend Charles C. Boldrick, appointed to succeed Father Gerst in February 1951, is now pastor. 
 

Reverend C. A. Riede —— Reverend J. P. Tierney 
 

ONLY FIVE CHURCHES HERE IN 1930 
 
The St. Matthews Booster reported on March 20, 1930, that the St. Matthews Baptist Church, meeting temporarily at 
Greathouse School, had decided to build its flew church home at Lexington Road near Bauer Avenue. 
 

The rapidly growing church was three years old, and had 120 members. Reverend W. E. Bridge was pastor, and there were 
only four other churches listed by the paper as being in the area at that time. 
 
These were Beargrass Christian, Reverend Lee Tinsley, pastor; Harvey Browne Memorial Presbyterian, Reverend William 
T. McElroy, pastor; Bethel Evangelical and Reformed, Reverend Walter A. Scheer, pastor; and Holy Trinity, Reverend B. 
F. Besinger, pastor. 
 

* * * 
BEARGRASS CHRISTIAN CHURCH 

 
1842, Westport Road             1917, 4116 Shelbyville Road 
 

Beargrass Christian Church has the longest continuous history of them all, It was organized in 1842 with 86 members. The 
first building ns located on Goose Creek but was later moved to Westport Road. Records state that Alexander Campbell, 
one of the early founders of the Disciples of Christ movement, preached in the old Goose Creek Church in 1842. 
 

The dedication of the church building at its present site, Shelbyville Road and Browns Lane, was held June 24, 1917. Since 
then, a growing and dedicated congregation has made two additions to the building. New Sunday School rooms were added 
in 1939 and the sanctuary was remodeled and enlarged. A new 1l—room education plant was added in 1949, shortly after 
The, Voice began publication. 
 
The church bought adjacent property it 4116 Shelbyville Road in 1952 for parking space, additional Sunday School rooms, 
and an apartment for the caretakers. The property at 4118 Shelbyville Road was purchased for Sunday School. The upstairs 
is used as an apartment for Reverend R. Willard Van Nostrand and his family. 
 

The entire expansion program has taken place under the leadership of Dr. Walter E. Lawrenson. Dr. Lawrenson, generally 
considered the dean of St. Matthews preachers and one of the community’s outstanding citizens, began his ministry at Bear-
grass in April 1931, to a congregational membership of some 200. 
 

Beargrass is one of the largest churches in St. Matthews, with the longest continuous history, and whose pastor has served 
longer than any other. James A. Cox 1951——Lee Tinsley 1923——J. W. Ricketts—-W. H. Tharp——J. T. Holton——F. 
W. O’Malley——Timothy Tinsley-—Curtis J. Smith 1867-68. 
 

* * * 
HARVEY BROWNE BEGAN AS MISSION SUNDAY SCHOOL 

Old — Bauer Avenue                New — 311 Browns Lane 
 
Harvey Browne Memorial Presbyterian Church began as a. mission Sunday School in 1891 under the sponsorship of the 
Crescent Bill Presbyterian Church, in the old Greathouse School which stood on the spot now occupied by the Kroger Gro-
cery in St. Matthews. 
 

Mr. Hugh Barret, an elder in the Highland Church became interested in the mission. He and Mrs. Barret did much to keep 
the work alive. 
 
Many outstanding leaders in the area helped with the work, preaching and visiting. Later Seminary students preached one 
evening a week and visited in the community. Prominent in this work were Dr. Henry Sweets and J. 0. Reavis. In 1914 Dr. 
J. 0. Longenecker, an ordained minister, took over the work while waiting for his appointment as a missionary to Africa. 
 
In 1914 a Mrs. Roberts of Bardstown, Kentucky gave $2,000.00 to the Louisville Presbytery to be used for some good 
cause and as a memorial to her brother, Dr. Harvey Browne. Mr. Barret was instrumental in securing this money to help 
erect a building for a Presbyterian Church in St. Matthews. The Bauer Avenue site was selecttl and the building erected. 
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Sunday, August 16, 1916, the Harvey Browne Memorial Presbyterian Church was organized by a commission of the Pres-
bytery. There were 27 charter members. 
 
October 6, 1916, Mr. William T. McElroy, by appointment of the Presbytery, began his work with this church. July 28, 
1918, he was ordained and installed as pastor, serving until January 1, 1937. 
 

The Reverend Charles W. Owens was pastor from May 30, 1937 through May 10, 1942. Under Mr. Owens the church 
grew. The Sunday School was departmentalized, June 1 and 4, 1941, the 50th anniversary of the Sunday School and 25th 
anniversary of the church were celebrated. 
 

The Reverend Paul M. Watson served as pastor from September 1942 until September 1948. The church continued to grow. 
He further organized the church and Sunday School. 
 
In February 1949, the Reverend Olof Anderson, Jr., came to serve as pastor. Plans for a new church home, begun about 10 
years before, were completed. The ground—breaking for the present building took place November 5, 1950. The corner—
stone was laid June 17, 1951, and the building used for worship and study January 20, 1952. 
 

In October 1953, the Reverend George Clementson became Associate Minister. 
 

Ministers——F. K. Homer——C. H. Reckard——R. M. Pegram——Dr. Jos. B. Mullin. 
 

* * * 
BETHEL UNITED CHURCH OF CHRIST 

(1923)                115 Meridian Avenue 
 
Bethel United Church of Christ in 45 years has grown to a membership of over 800. The first service was held at the old 
Greathouse School January 7, 1923. There were 43 charter members. 
 

Reverend William F. Mehl, minister of St. Paul’s Evangelical church, conducted the first service. 
 

The name Bethel was adopted at the first official meeting February 4, 1923, at the suggestion of Dr. E. A, K, Torsch, who 
aided by taking charge of the church school and conducting worship services. Reverend Walter A, Scheer was the first min-
ister and took up his duties in June. 
 
The first unit of the present building was built at a cost of $29,000.00 and dedicated November 23, 1924. With Bethel on 
the march, the building soon became inadequate and a second unit costing $75,000.00 was dedicated September 15, 1929, 
just one month before the Wall Street crash. 
 
Reverend Scheer resigned in October 1937, after 15 years. Reverend Willard H. Zinke took over in February 1938, and 
served until May 1950. Reverend E. A. Wahl took over the reins in October 1950. 
 

Two lots on the east side of the church were purchased in 1945, and a parsonage and adjoining lot were purchased in 1951; 
the parsonage was enlarged and redecorated.  
 

Once again, Bethel’s facilities were inadequate. The congregation in November 1952 decided to build a new sanctuary and 
convert the other one to educational use. 
 
Ministers — Reverend Darrell Schultz 1964, Reverend William E. Knack 1965—— Reverend Richard W. Brandon 1967. 
Reverend Knack and Brandon present pastors. 
 

BAPTISTS BEGAN WITH TENT MEETING  
(1927) Old — Breckinridge Lane at Willis                     New — 3515 Grandview Avenue 
 
The origin of a Baptist work in St. Matthews dates back more than 35 years. At the first, Dr. 0. M. Huey and a band of help-
ers held cottage prayer meetings in the community. Dr. E. C. Stevens and other pastors conducted a tent meeting in St. Mat-
thews in August 1926. Following the revival, services were held in the Harvey Browne Presbyterian Church and later in 
Greathouse School. 
 

Under the leadership of Reverend C. W. Chadwick, a church was organized in May 1927 as an extension of Walnut Street 
Baptist Church. Reverend W. A. Pegg was called as pastor in August. Plans were made for the erection of a house of wor-
ship on Lexington Road, but this idea was abandoned. In August 1928, St. Matthews became an independent church with a 
membership of 85. 
 

Reverend Carroll Morong was called as pastor on November 11, 1928. He was followed in 1929 by Reverend W. E. 
Bridge. In 1931, Reverend W. A. Smith came to the pastorate. During his ministry the Long Run Association made availa-
ble two lots on Breckinridge Lane and Willis Avenue as a building site. 
 

In January 1934, Dr. J. J. PreVol became the churches pastor, and in the following March a campaign for the building on 
Breckinridge Lane was successfully launched. Reverend J. F. Barton led in further expansion from October 1936 to Decem-
ber 1940. Dr. E. A. McDowell was supply pastor from January 1941 to June 1941. 
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On June 15, 1941, Dr. Verlin C. Kruschwitz began a fruitful ministry in St. Matthews. The church experienced remarkable 
growth in membership, finances, and influence. 
 
On September 4, 1945, 15 lots on the corner of Grandview and Macon were purchased as the site for a new building. Con-
struction began in October 1948, and in October 1949 the first services were held at the new location. 
 

Following the resignation of Dr. Kruschwitz in August 1952, Reverend Eldred M, Taylor served as interim pastor for near-
ly a year. On August 23, 1953, Dr. Carroll Hubbard came from the first Baptist Church, Ashland, Kentucky, to assume the 
pastorate at St. Matthews. 
 

Ministers——Reverend E. M. Taylor 1952——Dr. Wayne E. Ward 1965—— Dr. J, J. Owens 1966——Reverend A. H. 
McEachern 1966 ——Dr. Carroll Hubbard 1953——Dr. Y. C. Kruschwitz 1941. 
 

* * * 
ST. MATTHEWS METHODIST 

319 Browns Lane (1938) 
 
The St. Matthews Methodist Church is the evolution of a series of Evangelistic Services held in the summer of 1938 in a 
tent on a vacant lot at the intersection of Lexington Road and Frankfort Avenue, where a modern shopping center is now 
located. The evangelist was the Reverend John W. Lewis, later pastor of the Methodist Church in Lebanon, Kentucky. The 
move was initiated under the leadership of Dr. Roy H. Short, who became Bishop Roy H. Short of the Nashville Area of 
The Methodist Church. 
 
The congregation was organized with a membership of 27 people. Services were held for a brief period in the former Har-
vey Browne Presbyterian Church on Bauer Avenue, then in the old Greathouse School until the congregation moved into its 
church building on the corner of Breckinridge Lane and Grandview in September 1939. Five years later the church was 
dedicated, free from debt. 
 
It soon became apparent that this property would not be adequate for future growth. In 1947 the church was moved, to 
Browns Lane and placed over a full—size basement and remolded for Sunday School and Church use. After the sale of the 
Breckinridge Lane property, the congregation held services in the present Greathouse School until May 1948, when the first 
services were held in the Chapel on Browns Lane. In August 1953 this second building was dedicated, free of indebtedness. 
 

Plans were immediately drawn for a three—unit expansion program looking toward the completion of physical assets that 
would accommodate 900 in church school and 1,000 in the Worship Services, with an estimated property value in excess of 
$350,000.00; Reverend James S. Curry, pastor, 1952. Former pastors; A. D, Leitchfield, 1938—41; William Neil Taylor 
1941—42; M. L. Dyer 1942—44; Marshall R. Owen 1944—48; Marvin B. Whitmer 1948—52; R. T. Perkins 1958—64; H. 
T. Chandler, 1964 Present Minister Emil D. McAdams. 
 

* * * 
OUR SAVIOR LUTHERAN CHURCH (1942) 

 
4217 Shelbyville Road 
 
Our Savior Lutheran Church had its official beginning on September 22, 1942, when the congregation was organized. Ser-
vices were held in the Greathouse School. Its pastor, the Reverend John P. Kutz, was installed on the above date. 
 

The congregation had a very humble beginning with 27 members, 13 of whom were communicant members. In 1943 the 
congregation bought a piece of property on the corner of Shelbyville Road and MacArthur Drive. Due to the restrictions 
that were necessarily placed on construction during the war years, the congregation continued to worship in the Greathouse 
School until December 1947, when the new church on Shelbyville Road and MacArthur Drive was dedicated. 
 

Much of the labor and materials that went into the new church was donated by members of the congregation and other in-
terested Lutherans throughout southern Indiana and Kentucky. 
 
The congregation continued to grow and it soon became apparent that more space for Sunday School WAS urgently need-
ed. The congregation erected a Sunday School and Recreation Building in 1952. 
 

Ministers — Richard Lehmann——Paul Koch. 
 

* * * 
ST. JOHN LUTHERAN CHURCH 

801 Breckinridge Lane 

It was Palm Sunday, March 21, 1948. The church was decorated with palms. Each person wore a small palm cross made by 
the women of the church. The service had been read, hymns sung, prayers of thanks had been offered to Almighty God; 
then the moment arrived for which the people had dreamed, worked and planned. The Reverend S. P. Diehi stood in the 
center of the chancel and began to speak: “I do now declare this the St. John Evangelical Lutheran Church of Christ. The 
congregation comes formally into being with a charter membership of 81 members.” With those words another church was 
born in St. Matthews.  Minister R. G. Whousetler. 
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Actually the history of St. John Lutheran Church begins in the spring of 1946, when a small group of individuals decided 
that there was a need for a Lutheran Church here. The problem was taken before the Louisville Lutheran Ministerial Asso-
ciation, but nothing was decided until fail. 
 

On November 3, 1946, 75 adults met at Greathouse School to talk about organizing a new congregation. Fifty of those pre-
sent signified their intention and willingness to affiliate with the proposed mission. The Lutheran pastors of Louisville 
Breed to hold afternoon services until a mission developer could be secured. The first formal worship was held on Novem-
ber 10, 1946, at Greathouse, with Dr. G. D. Busch, president of the Kentucky—Tennessee Synod, preaching. 
 
The work progressed rather slowly until May of 1947. At this time the people were informed that the Reverend S. P. Diehl 
had agreed to serve as mission developer for the proposed new mission in St. Matthews, 
 

On August 1, 1947, Pastor Diehl conducted his first worship service. The service started at 7:30 P.M. and was held at the 
then St. Matthews Methodist Church. Sixteen people were present, and we are told that the temperature might have had 
something to do with the number present, for it was 101 degrees inside the building. 
 
The congregation purchased the present church building at 239 Breckinridge Lane from the St. Matthews Methodist 
Church, and took ownership on January 1, 1948, three months before the congregation was formally organized. 
 

The little mission of 1946 had grown to a membership of 389 baptized members and it was forced to conduct two services 
10 months out of the year. 
 

* * * 
OUR LADY OF LOURDES CATHOLIC CHURCH 

500 Breckinridge Lane 
 
To provide for the increasing Catholic population of St. Matthews, it was necessary to divide the parish of Holy Trinity. 
 
A 10—acre site was purchased on Breckinridge Lane between Norbourne and Winchester in the spring of 1949, and ground 
was broken the following winter for a building which would house both church and school facilities for the parish. 
 

The building was completed in 1950, with 10 classrooms, cafeteria and office rooms for the school and auditorium seating 
600 for the church. The new parish was dedicated to Our Lady of Lourdes and its boundaries included the area lying rough-
ly between Shelbyville Road and Taylorsville Road and between Fairmeade subdivision and Cannons Lane. 
 

The school opened its doors to some 240 children in September 1950 and the first Mass was offered in the church on De-
cember 10, 1950. Reverend Anthony G. Gerst, who had been pastor of Holy Trinity Parish since 1945, was appointed pas-
tor of the new parish, and Reverend J. D. Gallagher was named assistant pastor. 
 

The Ursuline Sisters of Sacred Heart Motherhouse furnished the faculty for the school. 
 

* * * 
BROADWAY BAPTIST CHURCH 

4000 Brownsboro Road 
 

Broadway Baptist Church, whose history dates from 1870, has been in its new location at 4000 Brownsboro Road since 
July 1950. 
 
Broadway is old in tradition and new in spirit. It moved here from Louisville to follow its congregation who gradually were 
drifting to better homes in St. Matthews. 
 

The congregation has enjoyed a substantial growth. The original unit, including a chapel and Sunday School rooms, was 
quickly pressed to take care of the increasing membership. A second unit of the four—unit building program has been com-
pleted. This building, linked by a cloister to the first unit, provides educational space for 300 students from nursery through 
12 years. Included in the facilities of this building are an air—conditioned suite of rooms for the nursery. Scout rooms and a 
library are also provided. 
 
Broadway is fortunate in having a wonderful musical program under the direction of Miss Audrey Nossaman and Miss Do-
ris Gene Bowman. 
 

The Reverend Edwin F. Perry is pastor. He is a graduate of Wake Forest College and the Andover-Newton Theological 
School in Newton Centre, Massachusetts.  (Note:  Father of Edwin F. Perry, Jr. (60), Pamela Perry (61) and Tim Perry (63)) 
 
The two buildings made available worship, educational, and recrea-tional facilities for approximately 1,200 persons, The 
sanctuary fronts upon Brownsboro Road, The eight—acre site enables the church to provide adequate parking facilities. 
 

* * * 
BEECHW00D BAPTIST CHURCH (1953) 

201 Biltmore Road 
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The Beechwood Baptist church is in Beechwood Village. 
 

The ground was Purchased and presented debt—free to Beechwood by the Crescent Hill Baptist Church, the St. Matthews 
Baptist Church, the Long Run Baptist Association, the General Association of Baptists in Kentucky and the Women’s Mis-
sionary Union of Kentucky. 
 

Beechwood began as an extension of the Crescent Hill Baptist Church November 17, 1952. About 100 members of the 
Crescent Hill Church met at Stivers School to talk about establishing a work in the Beechwood area. About 30 agreed  to 
remain with the extension and aid he program for three months. 
 

Dr. James B. Sawyer, a graduate of the Seminary, was called as pastor February 1, 1953, following Dr. W. C. Boone, who 
had served as interim pastor since the preceding December. 
 
The Church name was adopted in March 1953 and in December the extension became a duly—constituted Southern Baptist 
Church. 

 
St. Matthews Free. Methodist Church 

239 Breckinridge Lane 
1956 

Ministers — Rev. James Robberson - Rev. Roland Seabold — Rev. Vincent Spencer 
 

Westport Road Church of Christ 
4500 Westport Road 

1950 
Ministers - Rev. Tarbrough Leigh — Rev. Dewey flaw — Rev. James Brasher 

 

Christ Church Methodist 
4614 Brownsboro Road 

1957 
Ministers - Rev. W. W. Slider — Rev. James W. Averitt - Rev. K. A. Loy 

 
St. Margaret Mary Church 

117 Arterburn Lane 
1951 

Rev. Elrich J. Stewart — Rev. Charles F. Reteneller — Rev. Richard G. Grenough 
 

St. Albert The Great 
1405 Techny Lane 

1960 
Rev. Robert Willett — Rev. Norman Riggs 

 

Second Presbyterian Church 
3701 Brownsboro Road 

1954 
Rev W. R. Clark - Tuenis Gowens 

 

St. Matthews Seventh Day Adventist Church 
9810 Shelbyville Road 

1961 
 

Jehovah’s Witnesses 
411 Hubbard Lane 

1959 
 

Calvin Presbyterian Church 
2501 Rudy Lane 

1957 
Dr. Arie D. Bestebreurtje 1957—1967 — Rev. F. Morgan Roberts 1967, Rev. Walter K. McCrary 

 

Second Church of Christ Scientist 
1957 

4125 Shelbyville Road 
dedicated 1967 

Mr. James Overton (reader) 
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Holy Trinity Field (Lighted Yield) Baseball — Football — Softball - Track — Basketball Gym 
Waggener Field (Lighted Field) Baseball — Football — track — Basketball Gym 
 
Baby Town Eight cottages on Chenoweth Lane North of L&N RR tracks 
 
Cumberland Telephone Company Office was on Shelbyville Road west of Chenoweth Lane. 
 
George Rogers Clark’s home - Locust Grove on Blankenbaker Lane. 
 
Fountain Square located in triangle at Lexington load and Frankfort Avenue dedicated in 1967. 
 
Colonel John Floyd 1774, Surveyor — County Judge, Fort on Breckinridge Lane, Grave Yard on Breckinridge Lane. Killed 
by Indians in 1783. 

CITY HALL. 
City of St. Matthews 
201 Thierman Lane 

 
6th Class City — 3—22—1950 
Trustees 1950 — Sam Rudy — Jim Nolan — Henry Leathers — E. W. Gratzer — Gilbert Flack Mayor Nolan served until 
1958 
 

4th Class City — 1954  
Mayor Bernard Bowling was appointed Mayor October 1, 1958, elected November 1960, 1964 and 1968. 
 
Council Members 1960 when City Hall was dedicated were as follows: B. W. Gratzer, T. S. Rudy, Henry Leathers, E. R. 
Grinstead, John Barker, Millard C. Rudy, J. Pryor Wise, Millard French. 
 

Council Members elected November 1967: T. S. Rudy, Henry Leathers, John Barker, Millard C. Rudy, Millard French , 
Harry Jones, Louis Herm, C. H. Ballard. 
September 1968 — R. 0. Dorsey appointed by council to fill unexpired term of C. R. Ballard. 
 
Treasurer, J. C. Scheibel City Clerk, Gretchen Kaiser 
 
Police Judges — Gilbert Flack — H. D. Proffitt — Thurston M. Crady 
 
Police Chief — Kermit Cook 
 
MAYOR BOWLING 
 
Mayor Bernard F. Bowling is a most capable and dedicated citizen who has contributed his time and talent toward modern 
progress of our city. 
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Courtesy of The Courier-Journal & Louisville Times Company: 
 

St. Matthews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
WHEN Col. John Floyd settled in the area in 1779, he 
chose the high, dry, fertile ground of present-day St. Mat-
thews for his home. 
 
Floyd, a surveyor and the area’s first resident, invited other prominent Virginians to join him at the 
lush Middle Fork of Beargrass Creek, later called “the garden of the state.” 
 

Eager settlers came from Virgin-ia, Pennsylvania, Maryland and New York. They were joined in 
the 1860s by German and Swiss immi-grants. Some 200 years later, their legacy lives on with the 
many descendants who still proudly call St. Matthews home. 
 

A fourth-class city today, St. Matthews developed at the same time as Louisville and, around 1840, 
began to be called Gilman’s Point, according to Beargrass-St. Matthews Historical Society records. 
It was named for Daniel Gilman, who opened a stagecoach tavern at “The Point” — the juncture of 
Shelbyville and Westport roads and Breckenridge Lane. This is where the community’s original 
business district developed. 
 
But around 1850, the deeply religious Protestant community renamed it more suitably after the first church, St. Matthews 
Episcopal Church, which had recently been built on what’s now St. Matthews Avenue. The name “St. Mat-thews” became 
official in 1851, when the newly established post office adopted it. 
 
Today, every Protestant denomination is represented in St. Matthews, with a heavy concentration of Baptists. There are 
three Catholic churches, the oldest being Holy Trinity, built in 1882 on the present site of Trinity High School. A new Holy 
Trinity Church was built in 1950 near Brownsboro Road. 
 
Potatoes were big business in the community’s early days. 
 

St. Matthews was known as “the potato capital of the world” from 1910 to 1946, when the St. Matthews Produce Exchange 
— once the second-largest potato shipper in the country — was dissolved. The community’s central location along the 
tracks of the Louisville, Lexing-ton & Cincinnati Railroad, which were built in the mid-1800s, facilitated the shipment of 
potatoes to northern and southern markets. Also, tracks for The Louisville and Interurban Railway Co. were laid in St. Mat-
thews in 1901, enabling people to commute to Louisville, Middletown and Anchorage. 
 

The building that housed the Produce Exchange, which was run by R. W. Hite, still stands at Westport Road and Clover 
Lane as The Colony shopping center. 
 
One of the largest potato farms belonged to German immigrant Henry Holzheimer Sr. and was lo-cated along Chenoweth 
and Breckenridge lanes until 1928, when it was subdivided for development. 
 

One by one, farms were broken up as land became more valuable for real estate than for farming. The original farmers and 
their de-scendants — including Holzheimer and the families Brown, Rudy, Nanz, Monahan and Oeschner — remained in 
St. Matthews and be-came the backbone of the commu-nity, lending their names to streets and providing leaders in politics, 
religious, social, business and edu-cational institutions. 
 
In 1905, the city’s first bank was opened by Louis Bauer in Holz-heimer’s old tavern at The Point, later owned by brothers 
Louis, Henry and John Bauer. It was The 

A place in time, The story of Louisville’s neighborhoods, 1989: 



Courtesy of The Courier-Journal & Louisville Times Company: 
 
Bank of St. Matthews, at Chenoweth Lane and Frankfort Avenue (now Shelbyville Road), and is still a bank site. The Bau-
er family now runs a Brownsboro Road restaurant. 
 
In the late 1920s, the first modern shopping district developed on Frankfort Avenue, near what is now the Vogue Theatre.  
 
The movie house opened in 1938 and became one of the social centers of the day, charging 16 cents for a ticket. 
 
The 1937 flood marked the start of the biggest growth years for residential development. Since Crescent Hill was complet-
ed up to Cannons Lane, St. Matthews was the logical starting-over spot for people with flood-devastated homes. 
 

Developer A. J. “Tony” Eline, whose descendants are prominent figures in St. Matthews today, wrote in a 1938 real estate 
brochure, “We believe that this high, dry land is a safe investment. 
 
Besides fine soil, clear skies, perfect location and city conveniences there is the added inducement of low taxes.” 
 
Eline went on to develop the first small shopping districts, and the A & P grocery and the Bacon’s store on Shelbyville 
Road just east of “The Point,” as well as many of the present subdivisions in St. Mat-thews. 
 

The Eline Garage was the forerunner of all automobile dealerships on Shelbyville Road and sold the first Model T Fords in 
the Louisville area. The dealership is now Saint Matthews Station shopping mall, which is owned by one of Eline’s grand-
sons, Brad Breeland. 
 
Despite its many riches, St. Matthews had serious drainage problems and incorporated as a sixth-class city in 1950 to work 
toward getting sewers. 
 

“Things were in a deplorable condition,” remembers John Barker, who was a member of the City Council for 31 years. 
 

“I couldn’t sit in my own back yard because of septic tanks running over, The stench was everywhere. Half the streets in St. 
Matthews flooded after just an inch of rain, and the streets had big holes because of the water,” said Barker, 83, of St. Ger-
maine Court. 
 

So bad was the problem that St. Matthews became known in some circles as “the land of the lakes.” 
 

In 1954, the city gained fourth-class status, and when Mayor James Noland resigned in 1958 because of poor health, St. 
Matthews businessman and engineer Bernie Bowling Sr. became mayor. He initiated a $2 million sewer construction pro-
ject and directed the city until 1984, when he died at 62. 
 

Today Bowling’s son, Bernie Bowling Jr., runs the family business — Plehn’s Bakery — and serves on the City Council. 
 

Incorporation galvanized the community in the 1950s. 
 

The business association, today named the St. Matthews/Eastern Jefferson County Business Association to reflect the 
growth of the area, was formed in 1950 by business owners who successfully halted a proposal by the highway department 
to make St. Matthews Avenue one way. They said it would have hurt local businesses and prevented the fire truck from 
traveling both north and south on St. Matthews Avenue. 
 

Also in the 1950s, the community banded together to establish the YMCA and the Eline Memorial Library, the only branch 
of the Louisville system not owned by the city. 
 
The city’s two high schools also were established in the 1950s. 
 
Trinity High School has provided Catholic education to young men since 1953 and has grown from 88 graduates in 1957 to 
290 in 1989. 
 

Waggener High School was founded in 1954. It was named for Mayme S. Waggener, who had been principal of 
Greathouse School, an elementary then located on Shelbyville Road. In 1959, Waggener was one of the first four high 
schools to offer the new “advance program.” In 1973 it had 35 merit scholars, tying for first place in the nation. Its principal 
at that time was Art Draut, the present mayor. 
 

Despite the establishment of major shopping areas such as The Mall St. Matthews, small business has always been the 
city’s bread and butter. Cleaners, drug and hardware stores, service stations and restaurants — many still run by founding 
families — make up the core of the city’s 1,500 busi-nesses. New businesses include ex-pensive boutiques located in for-
mer homes on Chenoweth Lane. 
 
“St. Matthews is an all-American city,” says Lynn Olympia, the president of the Beargrass-St. Matthews Historical Society. 
 

“This is a closely knit communi-ty,” Olympia said, “where the ideals of home, church and com-munity still come first, as 
they did with the original colonial settlers.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A place in time, The story of Louisville’s neighborhoods, 1989: 
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A place in time, The story of Louisville’s neighborhoods, 1989: 

The intersection of 
Shelbyville road and 
Breckenridge Lane 
was already busy by 
1955.  Saint Matthews 
Station shopping mall 
has replaced the 
drugstore.   
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